

# LUND UNIVERSITY

#### **Plants as Factories for Insect Pheromone Production**

Deciphering and Reconstructing Sex Pheromone Biosynthetic Pathways of Female Moths Xia, Yihan

2020

Document Version: Other version

Link to publication

*Citation for published version (APA):* Xia, Y. (2020). *Plants as Factories for Insect Pheromone Production: Deciphering and Reconstructing Sex Pheromone Biosynthetic Pathways of Female Moths.* [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Lund University]. Lunds universitet, Media-Tryck .

Total number of authors:

#### General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors

and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

· You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain

You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

#### Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

**PO Box 117** 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

## Plants as Factories for Insect Pheromone Production

12

Deciphering and Reconstructing Sex Pheromone Biosynthetic Pathways of Female Moths

YI-HAN XIA DEPARTMENT OF BIOLOGY | FACULTY OF SCIENCE | LUND UNIVERSITY



# Plants as Factories for Insect Pheromone Production

Deciphering and Reconstructing Sex Pheromone Biosynthetic Pathways of Female Moths

Yi-Han Xia



#### DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

by due permission of the Faculty Science, Lund University, Sweden. To be defended at Ecology Building Blue Hall, Sölvegatan 37, Lund, Sweden. on Friday 6<sup>th</sup> March, 2020 at 9.30 a.m.

> *Faculty opponent* Prof. Dr. Russell A Jurenka Iowa State University, USA

Organization	Document name	
LUND UNIVERSITY	Doctoral Dissertation	
	Date of issue 2020-03-06	
Author(s) Yihan Xia	Sponsoring organization: Chinese Scholarship Council (CSC)	

Title and subtitle Plant as factories for insect pheromone production

#### Abstract

Compared to other organisms in which the fatty acyl desaturases (FADs) are mostly involved in normal cellular lipid metabolism, moth FADs have evolved extent functions in the biosynthesis of sex pheromones. Female moths release species-specific sex pheromones to attract conspecific males over a long distance for mating. Moth FADs are key enzymes producing the great diversity of moth sex pheromones. They introduce double bonds in specific positions and with specific geometry in the fatty acyl pheromone precursors.

In this thesis, I use a variety of experimental approaches including isotope labelling experiments and heterologous expression of gene candidates to characterize several novel FADs involved in pheromone production: The multi-functional *SexiDes5* from the beet armyworm *Spodoptera exigua* and *SlitDes5* from the congeneric *Spodoptera litura* were found to have  $\Delta$ 12 desaturase activities. They use palmitic acid to produce (*Z*)-11-hexadecenoic acid and the subsequently chain-shortened product (*Z*)-9-tetradecenoic acid to produce (*Z*,*E*)-9,12-tetradecadienoic acid. The European grapevine moth, *Lobesia botrana* was shown to produce its major pheromone precursor (*E*,*Z*)-7,9-dodecanoic acid by an  $\Delta$ T FAD. A pheromone gland-specific *Csup*YPAQ from the rice stem borer *Chilo suppressalis* was proven to have high activity on palmitic acid to produce (*Z*)-11-hexadecenoic acid.

The highly evolved moth FADs can be used for production of customized pheromone precursors in transformed organisms for a variety of purposes. Compared to the current conventional synthetic approach which producing the hazardous waste during the production process, using semi-synthetic method to produce moth pheromones based on plant-derived pheromone precursors are environmentally friendly I investigated the use of several plant platforms to express a suite of biosynthetic enzymes for moth pheromone precursor production. By employing the *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation, I constructed transgenic *Nicotiana* spp. and Camelina lines for production of  $C_{12}$  to  $C_{16}$  chain length pheromone precursors. The transformed *Nicotiana* spp. and produce (*Z*)-11-hexadecenoic acid, (*Z*)-11-tetradecenoic acid. The best line from *N. benthamiana* produced 17.6% (weight%) of (*Z*)-11-hexadecenoic acid of total fatty acid in vegetative tissue. Also, 7.6% of (*E*)-9-dodecenoic acid and 6.3% of doubly unsaturated (*E*,*E*)-8,10-dodecenoic acid of total fatty acids were produced in seeds of engineered Camelina plants, implying that a significant amount of pheromone precursors might be produced by cultivating these transgenic plants under field conditions.

Knowledge of additional pheromone biosynthetic gene functions can improve the possibility and feasibility of synthesizing customized moth pheromones in plant factories. A fatty acyl elongase (ELO) combined with a Δ11 FAD is thought to provide the fatty acyl pheromone precursors in *C. suppressalis*. I functionally characterized an ELO gene *CsupELO4* encoding a protein elongating the major pheromone precursor (*Z*)-11-hexadecenoic acid into (*Z*)-13octadecenoic acid, the precursor of a minor pheromone component. This is the first ELO gene that has been functionally characterized in Lepidoptera. The fatty acyl-CoA pheromone precursors are postulated to be reduced and reoxidized to produce the aldehyde pheromone components. I characterized *CsupFAR2* from *C. suppressalis* that encodes a fatty acyl reductase (FAR) reducing the major fatty acyl precursors into corresponding fatty alcohols, which are convert into the fatty aldehyde pheromones by followed-up oxidation.

Genetically modified plants actually releasing moth pheromones may be used as part of a push-pull strategy. I made an attempt to engineer *Nicotiana spp.* plants that would release (*Z*)-11-hexadecenol and (*Z*)-11-hexadecenyl acetate. I cloned the promoter CYP71D16, which is a trichome-specific promoter from tobacco *Nicotiana tabacum*, driving the pheromone biosynthetic genes. I surprisingly found that the production of (*Z*)-11-hexadecenol increased from 18 to 70 µg per gram fresh leaf when the gene of HarFAR was expressed under CYP71D16 promoter compared to a constitutive promoter CaMV35S. However, no pheromone compounds were found in the plant headspace volatiles.

Key words Pheromones biosynthesis	s, desaturases, elongases, reductase	s, plant factories
Classification system and/or index ter	rms (if any)	
Supplementary bibliographical information		Language English
ISBN 978-91-7895-428-5 (print), 978-91-7895-429-2 (pdf)		
Recipient's notes	Number of pages 200	Price
	Security classification	

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

Yihan Xia

Date 2020-01-27

# Plants as Factories for Insect Pheromone Production

Deciphering and Reconstructing Sex Pheromone Biosynthetic Pathways of Female Moths

Yi-Han Xia



Cover photo by Yi-Han Xia and Xue-Ying Li

Populär sammanfattning på svenska by Carin Jarl-Sunesson and Christer Löfstedt

©Yi-Han Xia

Faculty of Science Department of Biology

ISBN (print) 978-91-7895-428-5 ISBN (pdf) 978-91-7895-429-2

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2020



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se MADE IN SWEDEN *The science of today is the technology of tomorrow* ---Edward Teller

# Table of Contents

List of papers	8
Authors contributions to the papers	9
Abbreviations	10
Abstract	11
Popular science summary	13
Populär sammanfattning på svenska	15
中文科学总结	17
Aims and objectives of the thesis	19
Introduction	21
Lepidoptera fatty acyl desaturases	21
Moth pheromones	25
The biosynthetic pathways of moth pheromones	26
Identification of genes encoding Type I sex pheromone biosynthetic	
enzymes	26
Application of moth pheromones for pest control	28
Plants as factories for pheromones production	29
Fatty acids and triacylglycerol biosynthesis in plants	29
Fatty acyl-ACP thioesterases (FATs)	30
Metabolic pathway of medium-chain fatty acid synthesis in plant	31
Plant platforms for pheromone production	32
Plant platforms for pheromone production	32

General Methodology	35
Labelling experiment	35
Cloning and plasmid constructs for assays	35
Functional assays	36
Leaf disc transformation via Agrobacterium	38
Floral dip transformation via Agrobacterium	39
Lipid analysis	40
Headspace volatile collection	41
Results and discussion	43
Labelling experiments reveal new FADs activities (Paper I and II)	43
Functional assays of novel FAD genes (Paper I, II and III)	47
Production of pheromone precursors in plants (Paper IV and V)	48
New platform for functional assay of pheromone biosynthetic genes ( <b>Paper III</b> )	50
New ACO, ELO and FAR findings ( <b>Paper II and III</b> )	50
Increase the production amount of pheromone compounds- trichome specific promoter	51
Conclusions and perspectives	53
Acknowledgements	55
References	59
Paper I	71
Рарег П	87
Paper III	115
Paper IV	149
Paper V	179

## List of papers

The thesis is based on the following paper,

- Yi-Han Xia, Ya-Nan Zhang, Bao-Jian Ding, Hong-Lei Wang, Christer Löfstedt. (2019) Multi-Functional Desaturases in Two Spodoptera Moths with Δ11 and Δ12 Desaturation Activities. Journal of Chemical Ecology 45, 378– 387. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10886-019-01067-3
- II. Bao-Jian Ding\*, **Yi-Han Xia**\*, Hong-Lei Wang, Erik Hedenström, Jürgen Gross, Christer Löfstedt (2020) Biosynthesis of the Sex Pheromone (E,Z)-7,9dodecadienyl acetate in the European Grapevine Moth *Lobesia botrana* involving  $\Delta 11$  Desaturation and an Elusive  $\Delta 7$  Desaturase. (\*, shared first authorship). Manuscript.
- III. Yi-Han Xia, Bao-Jian Ding, Shuang-Lin Dong, Hong-Lei Wang, Christer Löfstedt. (2020) Characterization of genes involved in Sex Pheromone Biosynthesis in the Rice Stem Borer *Chilo suppressalis* (Lepidoptera: Pyraloidea): a Novel Functional Fatty Acyl-CoA Elongase Gene Revealed. Manuscript.
- IV. Yi-Han Xia, Bao-Jian Ding, Hong-Lei Wang, Carin Jarl-Sunesson, Per Hofvander, Christer Löfstedt. (2020) Production of Moth Sex Pheromone Precursors in *Nicotiana* spp. by *Agrobacterium*-mediated Stable Transformation. Submitted.
- V. Yi-Han Xia, Bao-Jian Ding, Hong-Lei Wang, Carin Jarl-Sunesson, Edgar B. Cahoon, Per Hofvander, Christer Löfstedt. (2020) Metabolic Engineering of Camelina (*Camelina sativa*) for the Production of Mono- and Di-unsaturated C<sub>12</sub> Moth Pheromone Precursors. Manuscript.

### Authors contributions to the papers

- I. YHX, HLW, YNZ and CL conceived the study. YHX and HLW carried out the labelling experiment and all chemical analysis using GC/MS. YHX and BJD performed molecular work, cell line generation and culturing. YHX, HLW and CL wrote the paper with input from all authors.
- II. BJD, YHX, HLW and CL conceived the study. YHX and HLW carried out the labelling experiment and all chemical analysis using GC/MS. YHX and BJD performed molecular work and bioinformatic analysis. YHX and BJD drafted the manuscript, all authors edited the manuscript and approved the final version.
- III. YHX, BJD and CL conceived the study. YHX performed the research. YHX drafted the manuscript, all authors edited the manuscript and approved the final version.
- IV. YHX, BJD, PH, and CL conceived the study. YHX and BJD carried out vector design, sequencing; YHX performed leaf-disc transformation, plant cultivation and all the sample analysis; YHX drafted the manuscript, all authors edited the manuscript and approved the final version.
- V. YHX, BJD, and CL conceived the study. YHX and BJD carried out vector design, sequencing; YHX performed floral dip transformation, plant cultivation and all the sample analysis; BJD, HLW, PH, EBC, and CL provided technical guidance and suggestions on metabolic engineering strategies, YHX drafted the manuscript, all authors edited the manuscript and approved the final version.

## Abbreviations

ACC,	acetyl-CoA carboxylase
ACO,	acyl-CoA oxidase
ACP,	acyl carrier protein
ATF,	acyltransferase
DAG,	diacylglycerol
DGAT,	diacylglycerol acyltransferase
DMDS,	dimethyl disulfide
DNA,	deoxyribonucleic acid
ELO,	long-chain elongase
FAD,	fatty acyl desaturase
FAR,	fatty acyl reductase
FAS,	fatty acyl synthase
FatA,	fatty acyl-acyl carrier protein thioesterase A
FatB,	fatty acyl-acyl carrier protein thioesterase B
FFA,	free fatty acid
GC/MS,	gas chromatography/mass spectrometry
GPAT,	glycerol-3-phosphate acyltransferase 9
LPAAT,	lysophosphatidic acid acyltransferase
MAG,	monoacylglycerol
MCFA,	medium-chain fatty acid
ME,	methyl ester
MUFA,	monounsaturated fatty acid
ORF,	open reading frame
PCR,	polymerase chain reaction
PL,	polar lipid
PUFA,	polyunsaturated fatty acid
RNA,	ribonucleic acid
SE,	sterol ester
SFA,	saturated fatty acid
SIM,	selected ion monitoring
TAG,	triacylglycerol

#### Abstract

Compared to other organisms in which the fatty acyl desaturases (FADs) are mostly involved in normal cellular lipid metabolism, moth FADs have evolved extensive functions in the biosynthesis of sex pheromones. Female moths release speciesspecific sex pheromones to attract conspecific males over a long distance for mating. Moth FADs are key enzymes producing the great diversity of moth sex pheromones. They introduce double bonds in specific positions and with specific geometry in the fatty acyl pheromone precursors.

In this thesis, I use a variety of experimental approaches including isotope labelling experiments and heterologous expression of gene candidates to characterize several novel FADs involved in pheromone production: The multifunctional *SexiDes5* from the beet armyworm *Spodoptera exigua* and *SlitDes5* from the congeneric *Spodoptera litura* were found to have  $\Delta 12$  desaturase activities. They use palmitic acid to produce (Z)-11-hexadecenoic acid and the subsequently chainshortened product (Z)-9-tetradecenoic acid to produce (Z,E)-9,12-tetradecadienoic acid. The European grapevine moth, *Lobesia botrana* was shown to produce its major pheromone precursor (*E*,*Z*)-7,9-dodecanoic acid by an  $\Delta 7$  FAD. A pheromone gland-specific *CsupYPAQ* from the rice stem borer *Chilo suppressalis* was proven to have high activity on palmitic acid to produce (Z)-11-hexadecenoic acid.

The highly evolved moth FADs can be used for production of customized pheromone precursors in transformed organisms for a variety of purposes. Compared to the current conventional synthetic approach which produces hazardous waste during the production process, using semi-synthetic method to produce moth pheromones based on plant-derived pheromone precursors are environmentally friendly. I investigated the use of several plant platforms to express a suite of biosynthetic enzymes for moth pheromone precursor production. By employing the Agrobacterium-mediated transformation, I constructed transgenic Nicotiana spp. and Camelina lines for production of  $C_{12}$  to  $C_{16}$  chain length pheromone precursors. The transformed *Nicotiana* spp. can produce (Z)-11-hexadecenoic acid, (E)-11tetradecenoic acid, (Z)-11-tetradecenoic acid. The best line from N. benthamiana produced 17.6% (weight%) of (Z)-11-hexadecenoic acid of total fatty acid in vegetative tissue. Also, 7.6% of (E)-9-dodecenoic acid and 6.3% of doubly unsaturated (E,E)-8,10-dodecenoic acid of total fatty acids were produced in seeds of engineered Camelina plants, implying that a significant amount of pheromone precursors might be produced by cultivating these transgenic plants under field conditions.

Knowledge of additional pheromone biosynthetic gene functions can be used to improve the possibility and feasibility of synthesizing customized moth pheromones in plant factories. A fatty acyl elongase (ELO) combined with a  $\Delta 11$  FAD is considered to provide the fatty acyl pheromone precursors in *C. suppressalis*. I functionally characterized an ELO gene *CsupELO4* encoding a protein elongating

the major pheromone precursor (Z)-11-hexadecenoic acid into (Z)-13-octadecenoic acid, the precursor of a minor pheromone component. This is the first ELO gene that has been functionally characterized in Lepidoptera. The fatty acyl-CoA pheromone precursors are postulated to be reduced and reoxidized to produce the aldehyde pheromone components. I characterized *CsupFAR2* from *C. suppressalis* that encodes a fatty acyl reductase (FAR) reducing the major fatty acyl precursors into corresponding fatty alcohols, which are converted into the fatty aldehyde pheromones by followed-up oxidation.

Genetically modified plants actually releasing moth pheromones may be used as part of a push-pull strategy. I attempted to engineer *Nicotiana spp.* plants that would release (*Z*)-11-hexadecenol and (*Z*)-11-hexadecenyl acetate. I cloned the promoter CYP71D16, which is a trichome-specific promoter from tobacco *Nicotiana tabacum*, driving the pheromone biosynthetic genes. I surprisingly found that the production of (*Z*)-11-hexadecenol increased from 18 to 70  $\mu$ g per gram fresh leaf when the gene of HarFAR was expressed under CYP71D16 promoter compared to a constitutive promoter CaMV35S. However, no pheromone compounds could be found in the plant headspace volatiles.

#### Popular science summary

To avoid serious damage to crops, you should pay attention to the moths that are discovered in your field during farming. The female moths lay eggs on the crops and the hatched larvae will feed on the crops, causing serious damage. Moths heavily rely on sex pheromone to communicate between males and females for mating. Pheromones are molecules used for communication between living organisms, across the tree of life from bacteria to humans. Female moths emit species-specific sex pheromone component blends to attract males of the same species over long distances. There are more than 160,000 species described in the order Lepidopteran (moths and butterflies). They are among the most damaging pests of food and fibre crops, capable of adapting fast and evolving resistance to insecticides. Conventional insecticides for pest control do not discriminate between pest and other non-target insects and can in many cases be harmful to other organisms, including humans, and detrimental to plants that are dependent on beneficial insects for pollination. Using pheromones for pest control (such as mass trapping and mating disruption) has become an environmentally friendly alternative because the pheromones are non-toxic, they have no adverse effects on non-target organisms, they do not kill parasitoids or other beneficial insects, and the risks of resistance being developed in the pest is small. Even in terms of profit and reduction in damage, pheromones often compare favourably to the use of insecticides. The global market for pheromone-based control products is currently estimated to more than \$200 millions. However, current standard approaches to pheromone synthesis either require the use of hazardous chemicals or may result in the production of hazardous waste by-products, and it is most difficult to modify the double bonds for production of unsaturated pheromone precursors. The problems inherent to synthetic pheromone production may be overcome by developing an innovative green chemistry alternative, minimizing hazards.

A majority of the identified moth sex pheromone components consists of fatty acid derivatives, which are biosynthesized in species-specific pathways involving successive enzymes activities. Among the enzymes, fatty acyl desaturases (FADs) play an important role to produce the great diversity of sex pheromones between species, introducing double bonds in specific positions of the fatty acyl chain to form the pheromone skeletons. By benefiting from current development of biotechnology and bioengineering, and the functionally characterized pheromone biosynthetic gene toolbox, such as FADs, it has now become possible to synthesize customized pheromone in transformed organisms efficiently. In this thesis, I investigated the use of several plant platforms (tobacco and Camelina) to express a suite of biosynthetic enzymes for pheromone precursors production. I established several stable transgenic plant lines for the production of high value pheromones, ranging from the carbon chain length of  $C_{12}$  to  $C_{16}$ , in either leaves or seeds. The constructed transgenic plant lines produced a significant amount of pheromone

precursors in the greenhouse. This research can be a significant step forward to enable pheromone stable production in plant factories.

In addition to FADs, there are some other important enzymes involved in moth pheromone biosynthesis. For example, fatty acyl elongases (ELOs) and acyl-CoA oxidases (ACO) are expected to determine the pheromone skeletons when combined with FADs. Fatty acyl reductases (FARs) can reduce the pheromone precursors into corresponding alcohol pheromones. To improve the possibility and feasibility of producing customized moth pheromones in plant factories, more functional genes need to be characterized to enlarge the gene toolbox.

In this thesis, first, I elucidated the sex pheromone biosynthetic pathways of the beet armyworm *Spodoptera exigua* and the European grapevine moth *Lobesia botrana*, which use sex pheromone compounds with two double bonds. Furthermore, in order to clarify the molecular mechanism of moth sex pheromone biosynthesis, I functionally characterized several genes from three moth species encoding corresponding pheromone biosynthetic enzymes, including the genes encoding ELO and ACO which are the first time to be reported in Lepidoptera. These findings improve the feasibility of using plant factories for large-scale customized pheromone production.

Moreover, the final goal of this green chemistry alternative for pest control is to be able to grow the pheromone-releasing plant in the field. Thus, it would be important to obtain plants capable of releasing pheromones into the environment. Here, I made some effort to explore this possibility with tobacco. I cloned a gene promoter called CYP71D16 to drive the pheromone biosynthetic genes in tobacco trichomes. It was surprising to find that the pheromone production amount was increased significantly compared to the use of a constitutive promoter, however no pheromones could be collected from the plant headspace volatiles.

### Populär sammanfattning på svenska

För att undvika allvarliga skador på grödor bör man vara uppmärksam på de fjärilar som upptäckts i åkrarna. Nattfjärilarrnas honor lägger ägg på grödorna och de kläckta larverna kan komma att äta av grödorna och orsaka allvarliga skador. Nattfjärilar förlitar sig starkt på sexualferomoner för att kommunicera mellan hanar och honor i samband med parningen. Feromoner är molekyler som används för kommunikation mellan levande organismer inom hela "tree of life" från bakterier till människor. I allmänhet släpper fjärilshonorna ut artspecifika sexualferomoner för att locka till sig hanar av samma art över långa avstånd. Det finns mer än 160 000 beskrivna arter fjärilar inom insektsordningen Lepidoptera (nattfjärilar och dagfjärilar). De är bland de mest betydande skadedjuren i livsmedels- och fibergrödor och kan anpassa sig snabbt och utveckla motståndskraft mot insekticider. Konventionella insektsbekämpningsmedel skiljer inte på skadedjur och andra insekter utan är i många fall skadliga för andra organismer, inklusive människor, och även för växter som är beroende av nyttoinsekter för pollinering. Att använda feromon för skadedjursbekämpning (genom massfånst och parningsstörning) har blivit ett miljövänligt alternativ eftersom feromonerna är icke-toxiska; de har inga negativa effekter på andra organismer, de dödar inte parasitoider eller andra nyttoinsekter, och riskerna för att resistens utvecklas är små. Även när det gäller skördevinst och minskning av skador utfaller feromoner ofta positivt jämfört med insekticider används. Den globala marknaden för feromonbaserade om bekämpningsmedel beräknas för närvarande till över 200 miljoner dollar. Nuvarande standardmetoder för feromonsyntes kräver ofta användning av farliga kemikalier under syntesen eller kan resultera i farligt avfall som biprodukt och det är svårt att modifiera dubbelbindningarna vid produktion av omättade feromonprekursorer. Problemen som är förknippade med syntetisk feromonproduktion kan övervinnas genom att utveckla ett innovativt alternativ baserat på så kallad grön kemi, samtidigt som riskerna minimeras.

En majoritet av de identifierade feromonkomponenterna hos nattfjärilar består av fettsyraderivat, som produceras via artspecifika biosyntesvägar. Bland enzymerna spelar fettsyredesaturaser (FAD) en viktig roll för att producera den stora mångfalden av sexualferomoner mellan arter baserat på introduktion av dubbelbindningar i specifika positioner i fettsyrans kolkedja för att bilda feromonskelettet. Genom att dra nytta av den senaste utvecklingen inom bioteknik och bioengineering, och tillgången på gener i verktygslådan, såsom FAD, är det möjligt att effektivt syntetisera anpassade feromoner i transformerade organismer. I min avhandling undersökte jag användningen av flera växtplattformar (tobak och oljedådra) för att uttrycka en serie biosyntetiska enzymer för produktion av feromoner med kolkedjelängder från  $C_{12}$  till  $C_{16}$ , både i blad och frön. De transgena växtlinjerna producerade en betydande mängd feromonprekursorer när

jag odlade dem i växthus. Denna forskning är ett viktigt steg framåt för stabil storskalig produktion av feromoner i växtfabriker.

Förutom FAD:er finns det några andra viktiga enzymer som är involverade i feromonbiosyntes hos fjäriliar. Exempelvis kan fettsyrelelongaser (ELO) och acyl-CoA-oxidaser (ACO) kombineras med FAD för att modifiera feromonskelettet. Fettsyrereduktaser (FAR) kan reducera feromonprekursorerna till motsvarande alkoholer. För att förbättra möjligheten och genomförbarheten för att producera anpassade fjärilsferomoner i växtfabriker, måste fler gener karakteriseras för att komplettera genverktygslådan.

I min avhandling kartlade jag först biosyntesvägarna för sexualferomonerna hos smalvingat lövfly, *Spodoptera exigua* och vinskottsvecklaren *Lobesia botrana*, som båda använder sexualferomoner med två dubbelbindningar i kolskelettet. För att klargöra den molekyöära mekanismen för biosyntes av fjärilsferomoner, karakteriserade jag flera biosyntesgener från tre olika fjärilsarter, inklusive generna som kodar för ELO och ACO, vilka här rapporteras för första gången för Lepidoptera. Dessa resultat ökar möjligheten att utveckla växtfabriker för skräddarsydd feromonproduktion.

Ett annat annat mål för produktionen av insektsferomoner i växtfabriker skulle kunna vara att utveckla väster som avger feromoner vid odling i fält. Jag försökte producera genmodifierade tobaksplantor som avgav feromoner. Jag klonade en genpromotor som heter CYP71D16 för att reglera produktionen av feromonbiosyntetiska gener i tobakstrikom. Trikom är hår på växtens yta. Till vår förvåning upptäckte vi att feromonproduktionen ökade mycket jämfört med när en en konstitutiv promotor användes. Dock kunde vi inte observera att växternas trikomer avgav några feromoner.

#### 中文科学总结

在管理农田作物时,如果发现有蛾子在田间飞舞、这预示着你的农田可 能要遭殃了。这些雌蛾会在作物上产卵、孵化的幼虫以作物为食、产生大面 积危害。信息素是生物体之间用干通讯的化学分子,从低等生物、如细菌、 到高等生物,如人、大象都会产生信息素,存在于许多有机生物体中。蛾类 昆虫非常依赖性信息素进行种间通讯和交配。一般来说、由雌蛾散发出特定 的性信息素组分、来长距离吸引同种雄蛾以完成交配。现如今已经发现了超 过十六万种鳞翅目昆虫(飞蛾和蝴蝶),它们其中许多会对粮食类作物和纤 维作物产生巨大破坏,并对杀虫剂具有快速而不断发展的抵抗力。传统的杀 虫剂不能区分害虫和其他非目标昆虫、并且在许多情况下可以危害包括人类 在内的其他生物、有时也会对一些依赖于有益昆虫进行授粉的植物产生负面 影响。昆虫信息素无毒、对非目标生物没有不利影响、害虫对信息素产生抗 性的可能性也很小,所以利用信息素进行虫害控制(例如大量诱捕和交配破 坏)受到越来越多的亲睐。目前全球市场的信息素类害虫防控产品供不应求, 然而、当前信息素的合成依然依赖于危险化学品作为生产原料、生产过程中 产生的一些副产物也会危害环境。因此、克服当前信息素生产的固有问题、 开发新的绿色化学生产方式迫在眉睫。

在合成信息素的过程中最费时费力的部分莫过于生产不饱和的信息素前 体。大部分已鉴定的蛾类性信息素组分属于脂肪酸衍生物,它们由一系列连 续作用的酶来合成。在这些酶中,脱饱和酶对于不同物种之间的性信息素分 化起到主要作用,它是生产不饱和信息素前体的关键酶,它主要的功能是在 脂肪酸碳链的特定位置引入不饱和的碳碳双键,有时也可以产生碳碳三键。 得益于现代生物技术和生物工程学的快速发展,我们可以利用已知功能的信 息素合成相关基因,如脱饱和酶,在外源生物体中表达并高效地生产信息素。 在这篇论文中,我探究了如何利用烟草和亚麻芥作为植物工厂稳定地生产昆 虫性信息素直接前体。我建立了若干个稳定的转基因植物品系,用于在其叶 片或种子中生产有较大应用价值的信息素。我所构建的植物品系在温室培养 中可以生产大量的信息素前体,这项研究可能是植物工厂信息素稳定生产的 重要一步。

除了脱饱和酶,还有一些其它重要的酶也参与蛾类信息素的生物合成。 例如,脂肪酸延长酶和酰基辅酶A氧化酶通常被认为与脱饱和酶一起作用于 生产信息素的脂肪酸结构。脂肪酸还原酶可以将脂肪酸还原为相应的脂肪醇, 有些昆虫直接利用脂肪醇作为其主要的信息素组分。因此,为了提高在植物 工厂中生产更多特定信息素的可能性和可行性,我们还需要对更多信息素合 成相关基因进行功能鉴定,以扩大可使用的功能基因池。

在本论文中,我们首先鉴定了甜菜夜蛾和葡萄花翅小卷蛾的性信息素生物合成途径,它们使用的性信息素组分具有比较特别的碳碳双键结构。为了阐明其性信息素生物合成的分子机制,我们进一步对一些信息素合成相关的候选基因做了功能鉴定。包括二化螟在内,我们总共功能鉴定了数十个编码信息素合成相关酶的基因,其中编码脂肪酸延长酶和酰基辅酶A氧化酶的基

因功能在鳞翅目昆虫中是首次得到验证。这些基因功能的鉴定为优化植物信息素工厂提供了更多选择。

另外,利用植物工厂生产信息素用于害虫防治的最终目标是构建出能在田间释放信息素的植物。因此,如何促使植物将信息素释放到外部环境中也是一项重要的研究课题。在本论文中,我初步探索了在烟草中释放信息素的可能性。我克隆了一个名为CYP71D16的基因启动子,以驱动信息素生物合成基因在烟草毛状体中进行表达,与组成型启动子相比,利用CYP71D16启动子的植物产生了更多的信息素,但并未从植物的顶空挥发物中收集到信息素。

# Aims and objectives of the thesis

To understand the molecular mechanisms of moth pheromone biosynthesis and extension of the synthetic gene pool will be helpful in order to design tailor-made production of moth pheromones in transgenic organic factories. One significant aim of this thesis is to characterize important enzymes involved in pheromone biosynthesis, especially new FADs that are specialized in performing distinct functions and providing significant molecular evidence for the study about the sequences to functions of FADs.

The second major aim of this thesis work is finding synthetic biology methods to further demonstrate the technical and commercial feasibility of insect pheromone production in plant factories by stable transformation. The proposed strategy has the potential to become an economically sound part of many integrated pest management (IPM) programs. The concept of using transient expression of the necessary and sufficient genes for production of common moth pheromone compounds in *Nicotiana benthamiana* has been proven in a previous study (Ding et al. 2014). This synthetic biology strategy is a "green chemistry"-alternative, which aims for a novel and cost-effective way of producing moderate to large quantities of pheromones with high purity and a minimum of waste. Synthetic biology can be explained as the studies to take the rational design principles of engineering and apply them to the modification and manipulation of living organisms (Gibbs 2004). This has resulted in the construction of increasingly complex genetic circuits and rewired pathways, although the manual construction of these circuits can often be a time-intensive task with complex optimization required (Cloney 2016).

The thesis is divided into two major parts, the characterization of novel genes involved in pheromone biosynthesis (**Paper I, II, III**) and the construction of gene cassettes for insect pheromone production in plant (**Paper IV, V**). The objective of the first part is deciphering the molecular mechanism of pheromone biosynthesis in three moth species that are notorious pests, i.e., *Spodoptera exigua* (**Paper I**), *Lobesia botrana* (**Paper II**), and *Chilo suppressalis* (**Paper III**). The second part is dedicated to design, build and assemble an integrated biological system for insect pheromone manufacture in plant factories. In this part, I aim to produce stable lines of transformed plants for the production of C<sub>14</sub> and C<sub>16</sub> (**Paper IV**) and C<sub>12</sub> (**Paper V**) insect pheromone precursors. For the purpose of optimizing the plant factories, storage and release of pheromone compounds from the modified plants is investigated.

## Introduction

#### Lepidoptera fatty acyl desaturases

The membrane-bound fatty acyl desaturases (FADs) belong to a superfamily of oxygen-dependent membrane di-iron-containing enzymes that includes a conserved three-histidine motif, coordinating two iron ions in the protein active center (Behrouzian and Bruist 2002). The enzymes catalyze the removal of hydrogen from a fatty acyl chain at a specific position resulting in the introduction of double bonds into the chain in 'E' or 'Z' configuration by desaturation reaction. Unlike the FADs in mammals, plants and protists that are active in normal cellular lipid synthesis, the Lepidoptera FADs have evolved extensively into different functions involved in producing the great diversity of moth pheromones (Knipple et al. 1998; Knipple et al. 2002; Liu et al. 2002; Roelofs et al. 2002; Jeong et al. 2003; Liénard et al. 2010; Tupec et al. 2017).

Since the 1980s, a variety of enzyme activities of moth FADs has successively been reported (Arsequell et al. 1990; Bjostad and Roelofs 1981; 1983; Foster and Roelofs 1988, 1996; Löfstedt and Bengtsson 1988; Martinez et al. 1990; Zhao et al. 1990). Based on the preference of substrates and product differences, particularly the position of the double bond introduced, the moth FADs can be divided into four subfamilies (Tocher et al. 1998) (Box 1).

#### BOX 1

Mombrana bound Dosaturasa sub	fam	ile
Wiemplane-Dound Desatulase sub	lam	IIY

Name	Definition	Reference
First desaturase	insert double bond into the saturated fatty acyl chain	Most of the identified moth desaturases belong to this group, $\Delta 10$ , $\Delta 11$ , $\Delta 13$ desaturases, including a conserved metabolic $\Delta 9$ FAD present in all eukaryotes (Liu et al., 1999; Paper III);
Omega desaturase	introduce double bond into the position between an existing double bond and the methyl end	A terminal FAD from <i>Operophtera</i> brumata (Ding et al., 2011); multi- functional desaturases from two Spodoptera moths (Paper I)
Front-end desaturase	introduce double bond into the position between an existing double bond and the carboxylic end	$\Delta 4$ , $\Delta 5$ , $\Delta 6$ , and bifunctional $\Delta 6$ /sphingolipid $\Delta 8$ desaturases (Hashimoto et al., 2008). $\Delta 7$ desaturases in <i>Lobesia botrana</i> (Paper II)
Sphingolipid desaturase	present solely to the biosynthesis of sphingolipid	sole function is the sphingolipid $\Delta 4$ desaturase (Ternes et al., 2002)

Over the last three decades, genes encoding corresponding FADs have been characterized via heterologous expression systems, e.g.,  $\Delta 5$  FAD in *Ctenopseustis* obliquana and C. herana (Hagström et al. 2014), a  $\Delta 6$  FAD in Antheraea pernyi (Wang et al. 2010), several  $\Delta$ 9 FADs from a range of moth species (Liu et al. 2002; Liu et al. 2004; Rodríguez et al. 2004; Rosenfield et al. 2001), a  $\Delta 10$  FAD in *Planotortrix octo* (Hao et al. 2002), a  $\Delta$ 11 FAD in *Trichoplusia ni* which is the first discovered FAD (Knipple et al. 1998), a  $\Delta 11/\Delta 13$  multifunctional FAD in Thaumetopoea pityocampa (Serra et al. 2007),  $\Delta 14$  FAD in Ostrinia species (Roelofs et al. 2002), and a terminal FAD in Operophtera brumata (Ding et al. 2011), a multifunctional  $\Delta 11/\Delta 12$  FADs in two Spodoptera moths (Fig. 1) (Paper I), etc. It is known that moth FADs have evolved multiple functions that introduce conjugated double bonds (Moto et al. 2004; Matouškovà et al. 2007; Serra et al., 2006), and produce a triple bond by sequential action (Serra et al. 2007). Still, in many cases, the FADs were reported to use same substrate but the products have strikingly different stereochemistry (Hao et al. 2002; Liu et al. 2004; Bucek et al. 2015).



Figure 1. Pictures of the moth species that have been studied of sex pheromone biosynthesis in this thesis.

The Lepidoptera FADs fall into different groups in the phylogenetic tree (**Fig. 2**). The  $\Delta 9$  (C<sub>16</sub> > C<sub>18</sub>) clade with a preference for palmitic acid, and the  $\Delta 9$  (C<sub>18</sub> > C<sub>16</sub>) clade with a preference for stearic acid and contain mostly metabolic FADs for maintaining the fluidity of cell membranes. The  $\Delta 11/\Delta 10/\Delta 9$ /bifunctional clade comprises pheromone biosynthetic FADs. The  $\Delta 5/\Delta 6$ , and  $\Delta 14$  clade FADs active in pheromone biosynthesis have a mixture of different signature motifs. In addition, the  $\Delta 9$  (C<sub>14</sub>-C<sub>26</sub>) clade FADs have preferences ranging from myristic acid to long chain (C<sub>16</sub>) fatty acids and are evolved to produce pheromone compounds as well.



Figure 2. Phylogenetic tree of desaturases. The desaturases tree was constructed by using Lepidoptera desaturases with amino acid sequences. The predicted desaturase genes studied in **Paper I**, **II**, **III**, **IV**, **V** are marked by triangle, hollow triangle, round, rhombus and square spots, respectively.

#### Moth pheromones

The name of "Pheromone" comes from "*Pherein*" and "*Hormon*" of Greek origin, means "to carry and to excite" (Wyatt 2003). In 1959, the first moth (Insecta, Lepidoptera) pheromone bombykol (E,Z)-10,12-hexadecadien-1-ol was described from the silk moth *Bombyx mori* (Butenandt et al. 1959). Pheromones are a subclass of semiochemicals that are used by the individuals of the same species to communicate with each other. Pheromone-mediated behaviors are crucial in animals from insects to mammals and contribute significantly to reproductive isolation (Wyatt 2003; Smadja and Butlin 2009). In many branches in the tree of life, from yeast (Michaelis and Herskowitz 1988) to elephants (Rasmussen et al. 1997) pheromones are used. However, insects are definitely the masters of chemical communication, and most of them heavily depend on pheromones for a wide range of different behaviours (Jurenka 2004; Lamprecht et al. 2008).

Female moths emit species-specific pheromone component blends that attract conspecific males over a long-distance, and this kind of pheromone is called sex pheromone. Approximately 75% of known moths use Type I sex pheromone compounds, which are  $C_{10}$ - $C_{18}$  fatty acid (FA) derivatives including mainly acetates, alcohols or aldehydes (Löfstedt et al. 2016). The second most common type, Type II pheromones, are used by ca. 15% of the moth species. Type II pheromone compounds comprise polyunsaturated hydrocarbons and their epoxy derivatives with longer straight chains  $(C_{17}-C_{25})$  (Conner et al. 1980; Löfstedt and Kozlov 1997; Ando et al. 2004). The Type I sex pheromone compounds are generally produced in a specialized tissue named the pheromone gland that is commonly located between the 8<sup>th</sup> and 9<sup>th</sup> abdominal segments of the female moths (Fig. 3) (Percy 1987; Raina et al. 2000: Ma et al. 2003: Ando et al. 2004). Other identified moth sex pheromone compounds are methyl-branched long chain ( $C_{17}$ - $C_{23}$ ) saturated or unsaturated hydrocarbons, and functionalized hydrocarbons (Type III) (Löfstedt et al. 2016). Also, short-chain secondary alcohols and ketones (Type 0) have been reported not only in Lepidoptera but also in the sister group Trichoptera, therefore to be considered as the most ancient form of moth pheromones (Visser 1986; Löfstedt and Kozlov 1997; Löfstedt et al. 2016), produced in glands of the 5<sup>th</sup> abdominal sternite (Löfstedt et al. 1994).



Figure 3. A typical female moth pheromone gland. Reprinted from Xia et al. (2015).

## The biosynthetic pathways of moth pheromones

The general biosynthetic pathways for Type I pheromones from palmitic acid may include chain elongation or shortening, interspersed with desaturation steps to place double bonds in specific positions. Once the chain is completed, the final steps involve adjustment of the terminal functional group (Löfstedt et al. 2016). Biosynthetic pathways for Type II pheromones usually start from linoleic or linolenic acids. In the oenocytes, different chain lengths may be produced and additional double bonds can be introduced similar to the biosynthesis of the Type I pheromone compounds. The final steps involve decarboxylation to provide oddnumbered chains or oxidation followed by decarboxylation and decarbonylation to produce even-numbered chains. The hydrocarbon products are then transported to the pheromone gland for release directly or after epoxidation (Löfstedt et al. 2016). My thesis is focused on studies of Type I pheromones.

# Identification of genes encoding Type I sex pheromone biosynthetic enzymes

Most Lepidopteran sex pheromones share a common progenitor that is *de novo* synthesized from acetyl-CoA via fatty acid synthesis in the PG (Foster 2005). The biosynthesis starts by acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACC) and fatty acid synthase (FAS) catalyzing the saturated fatty acid precursor malonyl-CoA from acetyl-CoA in the first committed biosynthesis step (Volpe and Vagelous 1973; Pape et al. 1988). Fatty-acid metabolism enzymes perform desaturation, chain-shortening by  $\beta$ -oxidation, chain-elongation, and functional group modifications by reduction, acetylation or oxidation to finally produce the pheromone components (Strandh et

al. 2008) (Fig. 4). Different combinations of these enzymes can produce unique species-specific pheromone blends in different species. The genes encoding two classes of essential enzymes involved in moth pheromone synthesis have been mostly functionally identified. Firstly, the gene encoding FADs that introduce double bonds in selected positions of the carbon chains are most extensively studied (Knipple et al. 2002), and has been described in "Lepidoptera fatty acyl desaturases".



Figure 4. Type I pheromone biosynthetic pathways.

Secondly, the genes encoding fatty-acyl reductases (FAR), responsible for reducing fatty acids to alcohols with different substrate specificities, have been functionally characterized in a few moth species, such as pgFAR-Z/E in *O. nubilalis* (Lassance et al. 2010), pgFAR in *B. mori* (Moto et al. 2003) and pgFAR in *C. suppressalis* (Fig. 1) (Paper III).

Other important genes postulated to be involved in moth pheromone production remain to be characterized, including

- the genes encoding acetyl-CoA acetyltransferases, which catalyze the conversion of fatty alcohol into acetate ester (Clinkenbeard et al. 1973);
- the genes encoding acyl-CoA oxidases, which are responsible for lipid metabolism by catalyzing the conversion of acyl-CoA into trans-2-enoyl-

CoA during fatty acid  $\beta$ -oxidation, and two novel ACO genes have been reported in *L. botrana* (Fig. 1) (Paper II);

- the genes encoding alcohol oxidases, which are responsible for converting fatty alcohols into aldehydes;
- the genes encoding elongation of very long chain fatty acid proteins (ELO), which catalyze the reaction of the long-chain fatty acids elongation cycle, and the first lepidoteran ELO gene has been reported in *C. suppressalis* (Fig. 1) (Paper III);
- the genes encoding fatty acid transport proteins, which are integral membrane-bound proteins found in both the plasma membrane and endoplasmic reticulum, several of which facilitate the uptake and activation of exogenous long chain fatty acids (Stahl 2004; DiRusso et al. 2005; Black and DiRusso 2007; Anderson and Stahl 2013);
- the genes encoding acyl-CoA binding proteins, which bind acyl-CoA esters with high specificity and affinity, and are thought to act as intracellular transporters of acyl-CoA esters between different enzymatic systems (Mogensen et al. 1987; Burton et al. 2005; Færgeman et al. 2007).

### Application of moth pheromones for pest control

Lepidoptera is a big order of insects that contains more than 160,000 described moth and butterfly species, and estimated 250,000 species including undescribed species in the whole world (Heppner 1991; Nieukerken et al. 2011). Among the most damaging pests of food and fiber crops, the moths are the super-criminal, and this is also due to the moths' capability of adapting fast and evolving resistance to insecticides (Simmons et al. 2010). It should be noticed that conventional insecticides will not only hurt the pests but are also harmful to other non-target insects, including insects beneficial for pollination or plant protection. Apart from this, in many cases the traditional insecticides are detrimental to humans regarding aspects of food safety and environment injure (Brittain and Potts 2011).

Due to the variety of problems caused by conventional pesticides, synthetic pheromones emerged as an alternative for insect control by monitoring or disruption of pheromone communication in pest insects with many advantages (Wyatt 2003). Moth pheromones are environmentally friendly and non-toxic, they have no adverse effects on non-target organisms and are not harmful to parasitoids or other beneficial insects. In addition, the risks of resistance being developed in the pest are relatively small. Even in terms of profit and reduction in damage, pheromones often compare favourably to the use of insecticides. For example, protecting cabbage from diamondback moth by pheromone was both cheaper, \$62 compared to \$123 per ha,

and more profitable, ca \$800 compared to \$456 per ha than by insecticides (Reddy and Guerrero 2000). Nowadays, there are tons of synthetic pheromones produced for application and it is estimated to be about \$200 millions pheromone-based control products consumed in the global market (Weatherston and Stewart 2002).

### Plants as factories for pheromones production

Since the techniques for genetically engineering of plants were developed in the early 1980s, numerous research projects have focused on utilizing transgenic plants to produce high-value recombinant proteins or compounds (Boehm 2007; Karg and Kallio 2009; Lienard et al. 2007; Ma et al. 2005; Mett et al. 2008;). During the past 20 years, producing insect pheromones or their biosynthetic precursors in genetically modified plant factories has been attempted. A moth pheromone precursor was produced in *Nicotiana tabacum* by the introduction of a moth desaturase (Nešněrová et al. 2004), and an aphid alarm pheromone was produced from endogenous plant sesquiterpene by expression of a (E)- $\beta$ -farnesene synthase in Arabidopsis (Beale et al. 2006). Moreover, Ding et al. (2014) proved that transient expression of genes coding for consecutive pheromone biosynthetic steps in N. benthamiana, resulted in production of biologically active multi-component sex pheromones. The activity of the acetylated sex pheromone mixtures from the fatty alcohol fractions produced by the genetically modified plants have the same activity for trapping of male small ermine moths *Yponomeuta evonymella* and *Y. padella* compared to conventionally produced synthetic pheromones (Ding et al. 2014). These studies have demonstrated that it is feasible to produce highly attractive and species-specific moth pheromones in genetically modified plants.

The potential advantages of using plant-based expression systems include the ability to produce complex proteins that require post-translational modifications, avoiding the possibility of introducing human pathogens during the manufacturing process, and the capability to amplify production efficiently and cost-effectively (Ma et al. 2005; Boehm 2007; Liénard et al. 2007; Mett et al. 2008; Karg and Kallio 2009).

### Fatty acids and triacylglycerol biosynthesis in plants

In plants, *de novo* fatty acid biosynthesis takes place in plastids (Ohlrogge et al. 1979), which are double-membrane organelles in plant cells. It starts from the condensation of acetyl-coenzyme A (CoA) and malonyl-acyl carrier protein (ACP) by the  $\beta$ -ketoacyl-ACP synthase (KAS) to produce a four-carbon  $\beta$ -ketoacyl-ACP, which are elongated by sequential condensation of two carbon units from malonyl-ACP by the co-operation of enzymes of fatty acid synthase (FAS) (**Fig. 5**) (Schultz

and Ohlrogge 2001; Voelker and Kinney 2001). Termination of plastid fatty acid chain elongation is catalyzed by fatty acyl-ACP thioesterases (FATs), which hydrolyze acyl chains from ACP to free fatty acids (FFAs). The FFAs are then transported through the plastid and activated to CoA esters, which are assembled into glycerolipids and polar lipids (PL) at the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) (**Fig. 5**), where further modifications such as desaturation, hydroxylation, elongation, etc., occur as well.

In developing seeds, the flux of acyl chains in the ER eventually leads to esterification on all three positions of glycerol to form triacylglycerol (TAG) (**Fig. 5**). The low polarity of TAG is thought to result in the accumulation of this lipid between bilayer leaflets leading to the budding of storage organelles termed oil bodies (Raclot 1997).



Figure 5. Simplified fatty acid synthesis and TAG assemble pathways in plants.

### Fatty acyl-ACP thioesterases (FATs)

According to different substrate preferences, FATs are classified into two families, FatA and FatB (Jones et al. 1995; Salas and Ohlrogge 2002). FatAs generally have activities on  $C_{18}$  saturated or unsaturated fatty acyl-ACP, while FatBs are responsible for releasing  $C_{16}$  acyl chain (Sinchez et al. 2010). FatA orthologues show high activity upon Z9-18-ACP substrate, of which the substrate specificities are similar among different species (Hawkins and Kridl 1998; Knutzon et al. 1992). While FatB enzymes can be further classified into two subclasses, the first is FatB1 that has generally preference for 16:0-ACP, and the second is FatB2 that prefer short- and medium-chain saturated acyl-ACPs (Rodríguez et al. 2014).

FATs are the key enzymes to determine which fatty acids are exported to the cytosol and subsequently incorporated into further glycerolipids biosynthesis (Voelder TA et al. 1996). To date, a variety of specific FAT genes have been functionally demonstrated to effectively modify oil profile in transgenic plants (Salas and Ohlrogge 2002). The engineered fatty acids by FAT genes range from short-chain to long-chain. For instance, e.g., overexpression of FatB2 originally

from California bay laurel (*Umbellularia californica*) in *Brassica napus* and Camelina seeds increased the lauric acid level in the total fatty acids (mol%) from negligible level to 58% (Voelker et al. 1996) and 29% (Kim et al. 2015), respectively; FatB2 from *Cuphea palustris* overexpressed in *N. benthamiana* leaf boosts the production of myristic acid a hundred times (Ding et al. 2014); *B. napus* introduced by FatB1 from *Cuphea* species produced 34% palmitic acid of total fatty acids (mol%) (Jones et al. 1995). Interest in the use of FATs in lipid biotechnology has led to a very active research on their different forms coming from various sources (Mandal et al. 2000; Othman et al. 2000; Serrano et al. 2005; Ghosh et al. 2007).

#### Metabolic pathway of medium-chain fatty acid synthesis in plant

Medium-chain fatty acids (MCFAs) range from ethanthic acid (C6:0) to myristic acid (C14:0), which are important for a variety of industrial productions, such as cosmetics, detergents, soaps, surfactants, lubricants, etc (Knaut and Richtler 1985; Dyer et al. 2008). The synthesis of MCFAs is a variation on typical *de novo* fatty acid synthesis that takes place in plants that produces primarily C<sub>16</sub> and C<sub>18</sub> fatty acids. In nature, only a few plants are MCFAs-rich. Therefore, engineered pathways are usually applied to generate MCFAs in non-MCFA-enriched plants.

The MCFA enriched plants are mostly from the tropics, e.g. palm kernel (*Elaeis guineensis* Jacq.) contains ca. 50 (mol) % of lauric acid and 18% of myristic acid of total fatty acids, respectively, as well as coconut (*Cocos nucifers* L.). The seeds from the temperate *Cuphea* genus also produce high amounts of MCFAs (Graham and Kleiman 1992; Graham 1998), of which *C. pulcherrima* can yield more than 90% of C8:0, and *C. viscosissima* accumulates 25% of C8:0 and 64% of capric acid (C10:0). Therefore, *Cuphea* species have been a suitable genetic resource to isolate FAT genes for MCFA production. Establishing oilseed crop lines for MCFA production by introducing *Cuphea* FAT genes have been confirmed to be a useful approach (Dehesh et al. 1996a, b; Leonard et al. 1997; Slabaugh et al. 1998; Filichkin et al. 2006).

For purposes of increasing MCFA content, divergent FatB enzymes were characterized and transgenically investigated, predominantly focusing on the engineering of lauric acid (C12:0) (Eccleston and Ohlrogge 1998; Knutzon et al. 1999; Voelker et al. 1992; Reynolds et al. 2017). In plants, the biosynthesis of MCFA is a variation on typical *de novo* fatty acid synthesis that generates primarily  $C_{16}$  and  $C_{18}$  fatty acids. Chain-lengths of fatty acids are primarily determined by acyl-ACP thioesterases, in including FatB thioesterases that typically release  $C_{16}$  acyl chains from de novo fatty acid biosynthesis (Li-Beisson et al. 2013). Variant forms of FatB, found in selected plant species, are able to release fatty acids of chain lengths shorter than  $C_{16}$ , as demonstrated by transgenic expression in seeds (Pollard

et al. 1991; Jones et al. 1995; Voelker 1996; Tjellström et al. 2013; Kim et al. 2015). In previous study, a FatB gene *UcTE* from California bay laurel (*Umbellularia californica*) was found to have high activity for production of 12:0 in rapeseed (*Brassica napus*) (Voelker et al. 1992). When the MCFAs are exported into the cytoplasm from the plastid in oilseeds, they become available for incorporation into TAG, which is formed most directly by the Kennedy pathway enzymes of glycerol-3-phosphate acyltransferase (GPAT), lysophosphatidic acid acyltransferase (LPAAT) and diacylglycerol acyltransferase (DGAT) continuously (Thelen and Ohlrogge 2002; Cahoon et al. 2007; Dyer et al. 2008; Kim et al. 2015a). A recent report showed that the co-expression of a variant FatB thioesterase with LPAT in Camelina seeds, the MCFA accumulation was improved (Kim et al. 2015a).

### Plant platforms for pheromone production

In this thesis, I worked on three different plant platforms: *N. tabacum*, *N. benthamiana* and *Camelina sativa* for pheromone production.

*N. tabacum* is also called cultivated tobacco which is an herbaceous plant and it is only found in cultivation. *N. tabacum* is the most commonly grown plant in the *Nicotiana* genus. It is commercially grown in many countries and the leaves are used to produce tobacco. The height of matured tobacco plants is between 1 and 2 meters. The leaves vary in size and the lower leaves are the largest with a length of up to 60 cm. *N. benthamiana* is a close relative of *N. tabacum*, and the mature plants show a big variation in height, ranging from as tall as 1.5 meters to shorter than 200 mm. In our greenhouse, the height of *N. benthamiana* was about 300 mm. The two *Nicotiana* species are both favourable to work with in metabolic engineering aiming at production of pheromone compounds as they have relatively short production times, large area of leaves to output volatiles and are relatively easy to grow in controlled growth conditions. In addition, there is less concern about contaminating food supplies as they are not food crops.

Camelina was chosen as the oilseed production platform for our studies because it is limited use as a food crop and is considered an ideal system for rapid introduction and evaluation of fatty acid and other oil-related traits (Iskandarov et al. 2014). Foremost, transgenes can easily be introduced into Camelina using a simple *Agrobacterium*-based method (Lu and Kang 2008), and it has a relatively short life cycle that allows up to three generations in a year for evaluation of engineered traits (Bansal and Durrett 2016). Camelina is also closely related to *Arabidopsis thaliana*, with a wealth of transgenic and genomic data for optimizing endogenous biosynthetic pathways for production of desired oil traits in seeds that typically are 30% to 40% oil by weight (Nguyen et al. 2013). In many plants, trichomes are tiny specialized hair structures for secondary metabolite production and release. For instance, biosynthesis of the diterpenes takes place in trichome heads, where secretory vesicles and cells are located (**Fig. 6**) (Kandra and Wagner 1988; Duke 1994; Guo et al. 1995). CYP71D16 was confirmed as a trichome-specific promoter leading the downstream gene to be specifically expressed in plant trichome (Wang et al. 2002). To explore the possibility of releasing moth pheromones from *Nicotiana* leave's trichome cells, a *N. tabacum* trichome specific promoter pCYP71D16 was used for driving pheromone biosynthetic gene expression.



Figure 6. Graphs of plant trichomes.
# General Methodology

### Labelling experiment

Isotopic labelling was the technique used to identify moth pheromone biosynthetic pathways by tracking the passage of an isotope through the metabolic pathways in this thesis. The deuterium-labelled precursors were separately dissolved in dimethylsulphoxide (DMSO) (Bjostad and Roelofs 1983; Yamaoka et al. 1984) and topically applied to the female abdominal tip where the pheromone gland is located. After incubation of a half to several hours, pheromone glands were excised and extracted (Bjostad and Roelofs 1984), and the samples could be analyzed by gas chromatography/mass spectrometry (GC/MS) (Christie 1998) (**Fig. 7**). The double bond positions in the fatty acid chain were confirmed by dimethyl disulfide (DMDS) derivatization (Dunkelblum et al. 1985).



Figure 7. Experimental workflow of in vivo isotopic labelling experiment performed in this thesis.

### Cloning and plasmid constructs for assays

Amplification of genes was performed by PCR either from cDNA templates synthesized from total RNA (**Paper I**) or genome DNA extracted directly from plant materials (for trichome specific promoter pCYP71D16, of which the results are not yet complete and compiled in manuscript form). For some genes of the unavailable biological source in our lab, I ordered the custom DNA synthesized by Invitrogen. (**Paper III-V**). All the genes contain the Gateway<sup>®</sup> cloning site attB (Gateway cloning system, Invitrogen) and were subsequently cloned to Gateway<sup>®</sup> entry vector in first step by BP reaction. For constructing co-expression clones, the Phusion PCR (Atanassov et al. 2009) was performed by putting two fragments that containing several dozens of homologue sequence bases and the DNA polymerase together. After hybridizing of the two fragments, the recombined sequence was cloned to Gateway<sup>®</sup> vector. The expression clones in this thesis were also constructed by using Gateway<sup>®</sup> method (Katzen 2007). After the entry clones were confirmed by sequencing (Schuster 2007), all of them were sub-cloned to a destination vector by LR reaction with different multigene combinations for a variety of purposes.

#### Functional assays

In this thesis, we have used three platforms for gene functional characterization. One was the yeast expression system (**Fig. 8a**). I used yeast expression vectors of pYEX-CHT and pYES52 for the functional assays. The expression clones contained FADs were introduced into the double deficient *ole1/elo1* strain (MATa elo1::HIS3 ole1::LEU2 ade2 his3 leu2 ura3) of the yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, while the expression clones contained FARs were introduced into the *INVSc* strain of yeast *S.c.* (MATa HIS3 LEU2 trp1-289 ura3-52). The transformation of yeasts was carried out using the *S.c.* easy yeast transformation kit (Life technologies). The detailed protocol was described in **Paper I** and **III**.

The second platform for gene functional assay was the plant transient expression system. I used *N. benthamiana* as the plant platform for gene expression (**Fig. 8b**). The plant expression clones in pXZY393 vector containing the target genes were first introduced into *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* GV3101 strain (MP90RK) by electroporation (1700 V mm<sup>-1</sup>, 5 ms, Eppendorf 2510). Meanwhile, a viral silencing suppressor protein P19 was introduced into the same *A. tumefaciens* strain as well in order to inhibit the transgene silencing of the host cells and extend transgene expression over a longer period of time with a higher degree of expression (Voinnet et al. 2003). Subsequently the transformed *A. tumefaciens* was incubated for several days until the culture concentration was high enough for infiltration of *N. benthamiana*. The infiltration experiment was carried out by using a 1 mL syringe without needle, containing the *A. tumefaciens* cells, to inject the lower side of a suitable four-week-old *N. benthamiana* leaf, with a gentle squeeze on the plunger and modest pressure on the leaf using a finger. The detailed protocol was written in **Paper III**.

The last platform we used for gene functional assay was the insect cell expression system. The expression construct for candidate gene in the BEVS donor vector pDEST8 was made by LR reaction. Recombinant bacmids were made according to instructions for the Bac-to-Bac<sup>TM</sup> system given by the manufacturer Invitrogen using DH10MEmBacY (Geneva Biotech). Baculovirus generation was done using Sf9 cells (Invitrogen), Ex-Cell 420 medium (Sigma) and baculoFECTIN II (OET). The detailed protocol was written in **Paper II**.



b



Figure 8. Yeast (a) and Nicotiana benthamiana transient (b) expression system applied in the thesis studies.

### Leaf disc transformation via Agrobacterium

The method of Agrobacterium-mediated leaf disc transformation (Clemente et al. 2006) was used for *Nicotiana* spp. stable transformation (Fig. 9). First, the A. tumefaciens culture containing the construct was incubated at 30 °C in LB medium supplemented with suitable antibiotics, until the optical density (A600nm) can be adjusted to 0.9-1. Plant material was obtained from 4-5 weeks old *Nicotiana* plants grown under sterile conditions on MS medium (Murashige and Skoog 1962) in a climate chamber. Subsequently, the transgenic lines were obtained by Agrobacterium-mediated leaf-disc transformation. Leaf discs (20 mm x 20 mm) were cut out and incubated 5 min in an A. tumefaciens solution, dried with sterile napkin paper and transferred to Petri dishes with MS medium (Horsch el al. 1985). After 2-3 days incubation in darkness, leaf discs were transferred to selection medium. Then after 2-3 weeks of incubation, the callus produced on the leaf edges were transferred to shoot-inducing medium. After 2-3 weeks of incubation, the shoots were transferred to root-inducing medium. The shoots were finally transferred into soil and grown in greenhouse until maturity. The detailed protocol is written in **Paper IV**.



Figure 9. Experimental Workflow of Agrobacterium-mediate leaf-disc stable transformation.

### Floral dip transformation via Agrobacterium

The method of *Agrobacterium*-mediated floral dip transformation was used for Camelina stable transformation (**Fig. 10**). The constructed expression vectors were introduced into *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* strain GV3101 (MP90RK) by electroporation (1700Vmm<sup>-1</sup>, 5 ms, Eppendorf 2510). The transformed *Agrobacterium* cells were grown on solid LB medium supplemented with antibiotics (50 mg/L rifampicin, 50 mg/L gentamicin and 50 mg/L spectinomycin) after incubating at 30°C for 36 h. Afterwards, a single clone from each expression clone was incubated in 2 mL liquid LB medium with suitable antibiotics as described above at 30°C for 36 h. Then the *Agrobacterium* solution was transferred to 30 mL medium for a 36 h incubation, and after that, the solution was transferred to 1 L medium for a 24 h incubation. Subsequently, the five weeks old Camelina plants were then transformed (Lu and Kang 2008) by the floral dip/vacuum infiltration method as described in Liu et al. (2012). After eight to ten weeks, the seeds were collected and sown in soil, and herbicide was used to select the transformants. The detailed protocol was written in **Paper V**.



Figure 10. Experimental Workflow of Agrobacterium-mediate floral dip stable transformation.



Figure 11. Experimental Workflow of Agrobacterium-mediated floral dip stable transformation.

## Lipid analysis

In order to analyze the gene functions in transformed yeast, insect cells and plants, as well as to detect the pheromone precursor production in *Nicotiana* spp. leaves and Camelina seeds, the lipid analysis was performed. For the lipid analysis, first the pheromone gland tissues (Paper I), yeast cells (Paper I and III), insect cells (Paper II) or plant leaves (Paper III-V) were extracted by chloroform:methanol (2:1 v:v) at room temperature overnight. For fatty acids (pheromone precursors) analysis, this was followed by base-methanolysis and transesterification as previously described (Dunkelblum and Kehat 1987) to convert all fatty acids to their corresponding methyl esters. The products were then recovered in n-heptane prior to GC/MS analysis. While the samples for pheromone compounds such as alcohol, aldehyde and acetate analysis were followed by adding n-heptane to re-dissolve the compounds after the total lipid dryness by nitrogen, which were then transferred to new glass vials for GC/MS analysis. The seed fatty acids extraction and methanolysis was performed directly by adding 2% sulphuric acid in methanol and incubated at 90°C for 1 h, and then water and n-heptane were added to extract the fatty acid methyl ester products prior to GC/MS analysis (Paper V).

## Headspace volatile collection

To perform the experiment of plant headspace volatile collection, the equipment was set up as shown in below. For the use of air flow to collect dynamic headspace volatile, the experiment was carried out as described in Raguso and Pellmyr (1998). For the use of solid phase micro extraction (SPME) to collect volatile, the experiment was performed as described in Centini et al. (1996).



Figure 12. Equipment for leaf volatile collection. a) a dynamic headspace technique using air flow. b) solid phase micro extraction (SPME) technique.

# Results and discussion

# Labelling experiments reveal new FADs activities (Paper I and II)

Tracking the pheromone biosynthetic pathways of S. exigua and L. botrana by isotope-labelling experiment, we confirmed an unusual  $\Delta 12$  (Paper I) and a novel  $\Delta 7$  (**Paper II**) desaturation activity to be involved, respectively. In the S. exigua, the *in vivo* labelling experiment showed that deuterium atoms from  $[16, 16, 16^{-2}H_3]$ hexadecanoic acid (D<sub>3</sub>-16:acid) were incorporated into all the detected acetates and alcohols, including (Z)-11-hexadecenyl acetate (Z11-16:OAc), (Z)-11-hexadecenol (Z11-16:OH), (Z)-9-tetradecenyl acetate (Z9-14:OAc), (Z)-9-tetradecenol (Z9-14:OH), (Z,E)-9,12-tetradecadienoic acetate (Z9,E12-14:OAc) and (Z,E)-9,12tetradecadienol (Z9,E12-14:OH) (Fig. 13), as well as into the corresponding i.e., methyl (Z)-11-hexadecanoate (Z11-16:Me), methyl (Z)-9-FAMEs. tetradecenoate (Z9-14:Me), methyl (Z,E)-9,12-tetradecadienoate (Z9,E12–14:Me) and methyl myristate (14:Me) (Fig. 12). Notably, when non-labeled (Z)-9tetradecenoic acid (Z9-14:acid) was applied to the pheromone gland, the amount of Z9.E12-14:OAc increased significantly. In contrast, when  $[14,14,14-^{2}H_{3}]$ tetradecanoic acid (D<sub>3</sub>-14:acid) and (E)-12-[14,14,14-<sup>2</sup>H<sub>3</sub>] tetradecenoic acid (D<sub>3</sub>-E12–14:acid) were applied, label incorporation was not detected in any of the above components. These results confirm that the production of major pheromone component Z9,E12-14:OAc in S. exigua starts from palmitic acid and a  $\Delta$ 11 FADs acts on palmitic acid to produce Z11-16:acid, which is then chain-shortened to Z9-14:acid, followed by the second desaturation at the  $\Delta 12$  position to form Z9.E12-14:OAc (Fig. 14). This pathway is in line with previous study of S. littoralis (Jurenka, 1997).



Figure 13. Incorporation of deuterium labels into (a, c) pheromone gland components and (b, c) fatty acyl precursors in *Spodoptera exigua*. Reprinted from Paper I.



Figure 14. Biosynthetic pathway for sex pheromone of Spodoptera exigua. Reprinted from Paper I.

 $(Z)-11-[13,13,14,14,14,-^{2}H_{3}]$ Deuterium labelled  $D_3$ -16:acid.  $D_3-14$ :acid, tetradecenoic acid ( $D_5$ -Z11-14;acid), (Z)-9-[12,12,12-<sup>2</sup>H<sub>3</sub>] dodecenoic acid ( $D_3$ -Z9-12:acid) and  $[12, 12, 12^{-2}H_3]$  dodecanoic acid (D<sub>3</sub>-12:acid) were topically applied to the pheromone glands of L. botrana to track the biosynthetic pathway. The results showed that deuterium atoms from D<sub>3</sub>-16:acid were incorporated into all the pheromone components, including (Z)-9-dodecenvl acetate (Z9-12:OAc), (E,Z)-7,9-dodecadienol (E7,Z9-12:OH) and (E,Z)-7,9-dodecadienyl acetate (E7,Z9-12:OAc) (Fig. 15). In the fatty acyl compounds analysis, deuterium atoms from  $D_3$ -16:acid were incorporated into methyl palmitate (16:Me), 14:Me, methyl (Z)-11tetradecanoate (Z11-14:Me), methyl lauritate (12:Me) and methyl (E,Z)-7,9dodecadienoate (E7,Z9-12:Me). Application of D<sub>3</sub>-14:acid showed the same incorporation results as observed for D<sub>3</sub>-16:acid, whereas no label incorporation was found from D<sub>3</sub>-14:acid into 16:acid. Labels from D<sub>5</sub>-Z11-14:acid were incorporated into Z9-12:OAc, E7,Z9-12:OH and E7,Z9-12:OAc (Fig. 15b), as well as into Z9-12:Me and E7,Z9-12:Me intermediates (Fig. 15a). Additionally, labels from D<sub>3</sub>-Z9-12:acid were extremely highly incorporated into E7,Z9-12:OAc and incorporated into Z9-12:OAc and E7,Z9-12:OH as well (Fig. 15-16). In contrast, when D<sub>3</sub>-12:acid was applied, label incorporation was not detected in any of the above mentioned compounds (Fig. 15). The incorporation of deuterium labels from  $D_3$ -Z9-12:acid into E7,Z9-12:OAc, E7,Z9-12:OH, and E7,Z9-12:Me (Fig. 16) strongly suggests an elusive  $\Delta 7$  desaturation on Z9-12:acid to form the major pheromone precursor E7,Z9-12:acid in L. botrana.



Figure 16. (a) Incorporation of deuterium labels from (Z)-9-[12,12,12-2H3] dodecenoic acid (D3-Z9-12:acid) into pheromone gland components in *Lobesia botrana*. (b) Biosynthesis pathway for fatty acyl intermediate of *L. botrana*.





### Functional assays of novel FAD genes (Paper I, II and III)

Here, I report several novel FAD genes with a variety of functions. First, involving the  $\Delta 12$  desaturation activity, two unusual  $\Delta 11/\Delta 12$  FAD genes *SexiDes5* and *SlitDes5* were characterized in *S. exigua* and the congeneric *S. litura*, with the same functions using palmitic acid and the subsequently chain-shortened product (*Z*)-9tetradecenoic acid (*Z*9-14:acid) as substrates to produce (*Z*,*E*)-9,12-tetradecadienoic acid (*Z*9,E12-14:acid), respectively (**Paper I**). A  $\Delta 11$  FAD gene *Lbo\_PPTQ* from *L. botrana* can produce important pheromone intermediate Z11-14:acid from myristic acid (**Paper II**). *C. suppressalis* utilizes (*Z*)-11-hexadecenal (Z11-16:Ald) as its major pheromone component. By heterologous expression in yeast and plants, a  $\Delta 11$  FAD gene *CsupYPAQ* presents very high substrate specificity to palmitic acid for production of (*Z*)-11-hexadecenoic acid (Z11-16:acid) with great activity. Another FAD gene *CsupKPSE* from *C. suppressalis* has preference for C<sub>16</sub>. It is interesting, however, that *CsupKPSE* switches the preference for C<sub>16</sub> to C<sub>18</sub> to form oleic acid when the culture nutrition was limited (**Paper II**).

The predicted ER retention signature motif in  $\Delta 11/\Delta 12$  FADs SexiDes5, SlitDes5, and  $\Delta 11$  FAD CsupYPAQ is "LPAQ", "LPSQ", and "YPAQ" respectively. It is noticed that the motif difference in FADs is to some extent related to the functions, e.g., FADs within the "KPSE" group are  $\Delta 9$  desaturases having preference for C<sub>16</sub>, while the "NPVE" group are mainly modifying  $C_{18}$  (Rosenfield et al. 2001; Liu et al. 2002; Liu et al. 2004; Rodríguez et al. 2004). The "xxxQ" are most likely to be the  $\Delta 11$ ,  $\Delta 10$  and multi-functional FADs and a few exceptions are  $\Delta 9$  FADs, which are exclusively involved in pheromone biosynthesis (Knipple et al. 1998; Hao et al. 2002; Serra et al. 2007; Xia et al. 2015). The  $\Delta 6$  and  $\Delta 14$  groups contain a mixture of different signature motifs from the  $\Delta 9$  and  $\Delta 11$  groups, and their biological functions are diverged from  $\Delta 9$ , and  $\Delta 11$  FADs (Roelofs et al. 2002; Wang et al. 2010). On the other hand, there were some exceptions to the "motif" signal hypothesis. For example, Ding et al. (2016) reported that one amino acid at the cytosolic carboxyl terminus of the protein (258E), which is outside of the motif region, is critical for the 'Z' activity of the Choristoneura rosaceana FAD. In this thesis study, SexiDes5 and SlitDes5 were showing same functions in the yeastalthough with different ER motifs. The motif of CsupYPAQ has only one amino acid different from SexiDes5. However, CsupYPAQ is highly specific to palmitic acid (Paper III), whereas SexiDes5 can form a variety of products with wide preferences for both saturated and unsaturated fatty acids (**Paper I**). Thus, making mutations at different sites for these unique FADs could be a possible approach to explore the relationship between sequences and functions of FADs.

### Production of pheromone precursors in plants (Paper IV and V)

Many functionally diversified FADs were characterized by previous studies, making it possible to design tailor-made pheromone precursor production in engineered plants. In this thesis, *N. tabacum, N. benthamiana* and *C. sativa* were successfully transformed to obtain stable transgenic lines producing pheromone precursors.

The successful production of several insect sex pheromone precursors in N. tabacum and N. benthamiana by stable transformation was demonstrated in this study. Levels of up to 17.6% Z11-16:acid in the total fatty acids was achieved. All of the transformed plastid FatBs and FADs were functionally active in producing pheromone precursor in both *Nicotiana* species. This is the first report of Z/E11-14:acid production in a plant by stable transformation. The performance of Z11-16:acid production in N. benthamiana was better than in N. tabacum. The average value of Z11-16:acid production in T0 N. tabacum was 0.2% whereas in T0 N. benthamiana it was 1.8%. The best N. benthamiana transgenic line #025 produced as high as 13.6% of Z11-16 acid of the total fatty acids in T2 plants (Fig. 17), which is much higher than the production amount reported from Nešnerová et al. 2004, claiming that 6% of Z11-16:acid of total fatty acids was produced in their transgenic N. tabacum NtD15B line. The quantity of Z11-16:acid in the form of methyl ester in N. benthamiana determined to be 335  $\mu$ g per gram fresh leaf is also higher, compared to 32 µg per gram of N. tabacum fresh leaf in Nešnerová et al. 2004. The results suggest that N. benthamiana has potential to be more efficient than N. tabacum as a plant factory for Z11-16:acid production. In the report of Ding et al. 2014, 381ug per gram fresh leaf of Z11-16;acid was produced in N. benthamiana by transient expression, which is a massive overexpression of exogenous genes over a few days that ignores the health of the plant. Here, the production of 335  $\mu$ g per gram leaf of Z11-16:acid by stable transformation shows the ability of vegetative material to function with the expression of CpuFatB1 and  $Atr\Delta 11$  and yield compounds over development, providing the potential for further commercial production.



Figure 17. Percentage of palmitic acid (16:0) and (Z)-11-hexadecenoic acid (Z11-16:acid) of total fatty acids in T1 plant #025-16 leaves during different development stages of plant.

To investigate the feasibility of a "plant factory production" in Camelina, we established four different types of transformant lines by using different exogenous gene cassettes (**Paper V**). In the regenerated Camelina seeds, the mono-unsaturated E9-12:acid with small amount of (Z)-9-dodecenoic acid (Z9-12:acid) and diunsaturated E8.E10-12:acid were produced in all the four types of transformant lines (Fig. 18). Camelina was genetically modified for production of E8,E10-12:acid via stable integration of gene cassettes using Agrobacterium-mediated floral dip transformation. This is the first report on production of di-unsaturated pheromone precursors in plants. Furthermore, the production amount of 6.3% of E8,E10-12:acid of total fatty acids is guite high. Because the oil content of the Camelina seeds, on a dry weight basis, is typically between 35 to 45% and the yields of Camelina are in a range of 336 to 2240 kg of seeds per hectare (Moser 2010). This means that 7.4 to 63.5 kg (minimum to maximum) of E8,E10-12:acid might be produced by cultivating our best Camelina line. Moreover, in this study we also investigated four strategies for optimization of the plant factory for production of E8,E10-12:acid. We demonstrated that co-expression of the desaturase with P19 and multiple gene copies can increase the production of  $C_{12}$  pheromone precursors significantly. Also, it was confirmed that stably expressing P19 regulated by the seed-specific napin promoter would not cause observable harm of plant development.



Figure 18. Comparison of mean percentage of E9-12:acid and E8,E10-12:acid of total methylated fatty acid between four strategies. a) analyzed from pooled 25 seeds of each transformant; b) analyzed from 15 individual seeds from most productive plant of each strategy.

# New platform for functional assay of pheromone biosynthetic genes (**Paper III**)

In this thesis, a new concept for molecular mechanism exploration of pheromone biosynthesis is provided, which is using *N. benthamiana* transient expression platform. The idea emerged from the principle of plant factories. Transient expression of various insect genes in plant leaves as factories for pheromone production has been demonstrated for a couple of years (Ding et al. 2014), but utilizing this platform for gene function studies has never been explored. In this study, we confirm that the plant transient expression system is efficient and useful.

In **paper III**, we use plants as a platform for functional characterization of the C. suppressalis biosynthetic gene candidates in order to compare the results to the yeast expression system. The observed functions of these genes in yeast and plant are similar and complementary. For instance, it is interesting that CsupKPSE showed  $C_{18}>C_{16}$  substrate preference when oleic acid was absent in *olel/elo1* yeast. However, in the plant, *CsupKPSE* shows its preference on  $C_{16}$  >  $C_{18}$  because the leaf does not lack oleic acid. The phylogenetic analysis indicated that CsupKPSE belongs to the  $C_{16}$ > $C_{18}$  clade. This implies that *CsupKPSE* can adjust its function to produce oleic acid similar to the function of ancestral metabolic desaturase when the nutrition is limited. Therefore, expression of desaturase genes in plant leaves for identification of different functions has the advantage of avoiding the problem of supplemented nutrition inference, especially for  $\Delta 9$  desaturase identification. A FAR gene *CsupFAR2* expressed low activity in yeast, while in plants it shows very high activity. Because the plant lipids are different from yeast, it offers an alternative way for gene function studies. The pgFAR CsupFAR2 showed additional minor activities on polyunsaturated fatty acids of linoleic acid and  $\alpha$ -linolenic acid in N. benthamiana, which has never been reported in previous FAR function studies. Moreover, the algae ELO *IgalASE1* elongated linoleic acid (18:2) and  $\alpha$ -linolenic acid (18:3) to eicosadienoic acid (20:2) and eicosatrienoic acid (20:3) in N. benthamiana, show the same function as reported in yeast S. cerevisiae expression system (33), indicating that heterologous expression of ELO in plant leaves for functional characterization is reliable and feasible.

### New ACO, ELO and FAR findings (Paper II and III)

The specific skeleton of an unsaturated fatty acyl chain is generally produced by combination of FAD and ELO or ACO. Among the functionally characterized pheromone biosynthetic genes in *L. botrana* and *C. suppressalis*, there were two novel ACO genes *Lbo\_31670*, *Lbo\_49602* (**Paper II**) and a first reported ELO gene *CsupELO4* (**Paper III**) showing functions. The former two genes encoding two acyl-CoA oxidases that may produce Z9-12:acid by chain shortening of Z11-14:acid.

The later gene encoding an elongase may produce Z13-18:acid, an immediate precursor of a pheromone component in *C. suppressalis*.

We also functionally characterized a new FAR gene (**Paper III**) from *C.* suppressalis, *CsupFAR2* that shows very high activity to Z11-16:acid, producing corresponding Z11-16:OH. It also has other minor activity with  $C_{16}$ - $C_{18}$  fatty acids, similar to *HarFAR* from *Helicoverpa armigera* (Hagström et al. 2012; 2013), but having more specific activities on Z11-16:acid. The high activity and substrate specificity of *CsupFAR2* suggests it to be a valuable candidate for further pheromone production in both yeast and plant factories.

#### Increase the production amount of pheromone compoundstrichome specific promoter

A long-term vision is to produce genetically modified plants that eventually can be used in intercropping as natural dispensers of pheromones and as part of a push-pull (Cook et al. 2007) strategy, providing an innovative and environmentally friendly approach for pest management. Production of a high yield of pheromones in plants by stable transformation is still challenging. With the purpose of producing fatty alcohols or acetates especially for releasing these compounds from the leaf, a trichome specific promoter derived from *N. tabacum* was cloned and used for FAR and ATF gene expression.

In moths, after the immediate acyl-CoA precursors are produced, FAR can catalyze the reduction of acyl-CoA into fatty alcohols, which either are used as pheromones for some moth species, or in some other moths, converted to corresponding acetates after trans-acetylation by ATFs. Therefore, in order to explore the possibility of releasing pheromone alcohol and acetate in transformed plants, the FAR gene *HarFAR* and the ATF gene *ATF1* was constructed with a trichome specific promoter CYP71D16, respectively, producing the pheromones Z11-16:OH and Z11-16:OAc (**Fig. 19**).



Figure 19. Scheme of constructed vectors for a) Z11-16:OH and b) Z11-16:OAc production in Nicotiana spp.

CYP71D16 was confirmed as a trichome-specific promoter leading the downstream gene to be specifically expressed in plant trichomes (Wang et al. 2002). After 3-5 days, the infiltrated *N. benthamina* plant expressing *HarFAR* controlled by CYP71D16 promoter produced 70  $\mu$ g Z11-16:OH in per gram fresh leaf, while the plant expressing *HarFAR* drived by CaMv35S promoter only produced a tiny amount of Z11-16:OH (**Fig 20**). The same combination of *CpFatB1*, *Atr* $\Delta$ *11* and *HarFAR* drived by 35S promoter were also tested in the study of Ding et al. 2014, which reported 18  $\mu$ g Z11-16:OH in per gram fresh leaf was produced. Also, *ATF1* controlled by CYP71D16 expressing in the plant produced much more Z11-16:OAc than 35S (**Fig. 20**). This result suggested that CYP71D16 promoter can increase the pheromone production amount significantly compared to 35S promoter. However, until now, no pheromone compounds from the plant headspace volatiles was collected.



Figure 20. Expression of HarFAR and ATF1 with pCYP71D16 promoter or 35S promoter.

# Conclusions and perspectives

In this Ph.D. project, the first contribution is that we characterized several key pheromone biosynthetic genes in the serious pest species, including two beet armyworm *Spodoptera* species (**Paper I**), European grapevine moth *L. botrana* (**Paper II**) and the rice stem borer *C. suppressalis* (**Paper III**). We enriched the functional pheromone biosynthetic gene database. These findings will not only help understanding the mechanisms of pheromone biosynthesis, but will also provide many putative candidates for pheromone production in bio-factories.

In the perspective of utilizing results from basic science for application, the second contribution of this thesis is that we established several stable transgenic plant lines for pheromone precursors production, ranging from the carbon chain length of 12 (**Paper V**) to 16 (**Paper IV**), either in the leaves or seeds. This is the first report on an extended production of pheromone precursors ( $C_{12}$  and  $C_{14}$ ) over generations in plants. We confirm that *N. benthamiana* is a suitable platform for stable production of  $C_{16}$  pheromone precursors. We also established productive Camelina line for di-unsaturated  $C_{12}$  pheromone precursor production. Up to 6.3% of E8,E10-12:acid of total fatty acids was achieved. Because the oil content of the Camelina seeds, on a dry weight basis, is typically between 35 to 45% and the Camelina yields anywhere are from 336 to 2240 kg of seeds per hectare, which means 7.4 to 63.5 kg (minimum to maximum) of E8,E10-12:acid might be produced by cultivating our best *Camelina* line.

A further aim is to enable stable production of final pheromone components in bio-factories, which remains to be explored. First, increasing the pheromone precursor production to provide more substrate for pheromone biosynthesis is one of the possible approaches. How to increase the precursor production, for instance by elevating the TAG accumulation in plant cells, needs further efforts. Our long-term goal is to design the "tailor-made" production of any moth pheromone in stably transformed plants. However, much remains unknown about the molecular mechanisms underlying the pheromone biosynthesis. The identification of genes encoding pheromone biosynthesis enzymes is a crucial step in ensuring the compatibility of bio-factories. Prior to this thesis, only FAD and FAR genes have been functionally characterized, but we now have found several functional genes encoding ACOs (**Paper II**) and ELO that were involved in pheromone biosynthesis (**Paper III**). We also developed the plant platform for insect gene functional

characterization, contributing an efficient way for further fatty acid metabolic and pheromone biosynthesis studies.

Ultimately, plant factory for pheromone production could be used in a "push-pull" strategy for pest control, which is using pheromones that act to make the protected resource unattractive to the pests (push) while luring them toward an attractive source (pull) from where the pests are subsequently removed. This requires that the plants can release pheromones into the atmosphere which is still challenging. We intended to accomplish this by using a trichome-specific promoter CYP71D16 to drive pheromone biosynthetic genes. It was surprising to find that this strategy increased the pheromone production amount quite substantially. However, no detectable pheromone compounds were collected from the plant headspace volatiles. To understand the mechanism of volatile release could be the next step to go forward.

#### Acknowledgements

Some people said that there was full of frustration during their PhD and some people quit their PhD because of too much suffering. For me, I am so lucky to reach this point with little sucks and full of enjoyment during this journey. Time flies and I know I would not reach this point without their support and help. I owe my thanks to so many of them, so I would like to take this opportunity to give my sincerest gratitude to all of them.

First and foremost, I would like to thank my main supervisor **Christer Löfstedt**. Thank you for providing me with this great opportunity to study here. You are really an encouraging supervisor, you lead me to attend many professional meetings and conferences and introduce me to your peers and collaborators, guiding me to exchange thoughts with them. You are always giving me the freedom to do my projects, supporting me financially. You organize meetings to discuss my projects with my co-supervisors **Honglei Wang** and **Carin Jarl-Sunesson** every week even if you have so many things to deal with. You are always so nice to me and supporting me with your constant help and valuable supervision.

**Honglei**, you are the first person I met here. I still remember the evening when you picked me up from the CPH airport. You introduced me to Lund, biology department, and our pheromone group. You guided me to buy necessities of life. For me who was the first time to go abroad alone, it was really a big help. Thank you! Thank you for the care and kindness you provided during all these years. You guided me in the GC lab and taught me all the details about chemistry. You are always there whenever I asked for help. You shared precious research experience with me, which benefited me a lot.

**Carin**, you always help me kindly whenever I need it. I love your smile very much. No matter what problem I meet, you always show me a very nice smile, encourage me, and raise me up. You are very enthusiastic to help me solve a variety of problems, from lab work to writing issues. You treated our every weekly meeting seriously, providing good advice every time. Also, thank you for helping me to improve many reports and manuscripts timely, even if you are the head of department, having a lot of things to deal with.

**Baojian**, although you are not my co-supervisor in paper, you play a big part in teaching me both theoretical knowledge and practical skills about these projects. You are more than a supervisor, you are a good friend. In the first month since I came here, it was a dark and damp winter in Lund and I felt frustrated. But quickly I adapted to survive with your company. You guided me in the molecular lab, walk back and forth on the corridor from day to night. You taught me very cool and smart lab skills. You helped me with everything if I needed help. We shared the office shortly. We often exchange good ideas, interesting thoughts to each other. We had many fruitful conversations during these years, from research to personal life. Thank you for the nice times we shared in the past years.

Allan, my examiner, thank you for organizing my PhD meetings and giving useful comments and efficient feedback, also thank you for helping me to register the course credits. Anne L, Katarina N and Sara B, thank you for taking care of all the administrative issues.

**Erling**, thank you for your wonderful technical support during these years. I cannot complete my experiment so smoothly without your help.

Lihua, you are such a nice mentor. Thank you for spending your precious time to help me when I have confusions. You are very kind and patient whenever I come to you. You give me many useful tips about life and work. Thank you for your support and guidance. Also, thanks to **Xueyuan Li**, who always share me with his office for our nice conversations.

**Per H**, you are my co-supervisor in SLU, although we did not talk much, you always give me a hand when I need help and provide useful advices. Thank you for your input to the manuscripts.

**Sten**, thank you for the response to my email and providing very useful advices to my experiment questions although you have retired. **Edgar**, thank you for sending your high lauric acid seeds to me, which saved much time to finish my PhD. Also thank you for improving the Camelina manuscript, and for the enriching and scientific conversations when you visited us.

Chatarina, thank you for taking care of my plants in the greenhouse when I was not here. Anna S, Eva, and Thomas, thank you for the excellent work of sample sequencing. I appreciate your help when I asked for emergency sequencing results.

I also would like to thank the present and past **pheromone group members**, thank you for myriad cakes and friendly environment during all these years. **Dandan**, it has been a pleasure sharing office with you. I like all the funny stories about **Sonya** and **Kajsa** that you shared with me. **Glenn**, thank you for teaching me to use the air pump for volatile collection. **Jothi**, thank you for sharing useful information and helping me with some phylogeny analysis. **Erika**, thank you for your useful tips and help to the Pherodays game section. Thank you, **Rebecca**, **Daniel**, **Marie**, **Nadia**, **Susan**, **Johan** and **Nicoletta** for the nice short talks when we meet on the corridor and labs. Thank you, **Xiaoqing** for encouraging me when my manuscript was rejected. Thank you **Olle**, **Martin**, **Marcus**, **Jean-Marc**, **Marjorie** and **Colm** for all the nice conversations. **Tini**, thank you for sharing Swedish course application information with me when I just came here.

Thanks to **GENECO** for organizing many fantastic meetings and courses. Thanks to **Johan H** for choosing a nice mentor for me and organizing all the symposiums of the mentor program. **Kajsa**, thank you for being my GENECO mentor, although everytime we met shortly, you gave me a lot of useful advices on how to do science. **Johanna**, thank you for coaching us during the mentor program, I benefit a lot from every inspiring meeting. My mentor program friends, **Anu**, **Benjamin**, **Christofer K**, **Emelie**, **Eva S**, **Gaofeng**, **Shahriar**, **Oscar**, thank you for the interesting

discussions at the meetings, which enabled me to think about my life from another perspective.

I would also like to thank all the fellow people in the Biology Department for the fun conversations during these years, Juan, Alex, Sunti, Jacob R, Shahriar, Suvi, Hanna, Ye Xiong, Zhaomo Tian, Sunti, Oscar, Mridula, Mengshu Hao, Xiaoli Huang, Huan Zhang, Jing Zhang, Yutao Wang, Hao Zou.

Thanks to **Xiuqin Zhong**, a special friend in Lund, thank you for guiding me to your circle of friends in the beginning and not letting me feel alone. Thank you for always be here with me whenever I need. I will definitely miss the memorable time during all these years.

I would also like to extend my thanks to some other Chinese friends in Lund and Alnarp, Peiling Zhang, Ze Fu, Jian Li, Jian Liu, Guohua Zhang, Yang Liu, Miao Zhang, Bin Li, Rui Guan, Tao Wang, Xi Zhu, Weizhao Yang, Xi Huang, Senbin Yu, Yiheng Tong, Guoda Tian, thank you for the fun we had during those nice dinners and travels. Thanks to Hao Wu, Momo and Yuzhao Cui, for taking care of my dog for some days.

I would also like to thank my professor in China **Shuanglin Dong**, without your support I would not be where I am now, thank you! Also, I would like to thank my two senior fellow apprentices **Yanan Zhang** and **Peng He**, thank you for your encouragement and providing helpful advices to me when I come to you.

Thanks to my Chinese friends back home who ever encouraged me during these years. Lucy (Kin), my bosom friend, thank you for always there for me whenever I am down and lifting me with funny jokes! Yongli Wen, Jiali Hou, Hui Yao, Jing Nie, Yajie Cui, Guanheng Zhu, Hetan Chang, Jianhong Zhou, Ruoyu Xia, Jingwen Han, Wenqia Ye, Wensheng Da, thank you for the fun we had and always being supportive.

Thanks to my brother **Yanqi Qiu**, thank you for encouraging me whenever I come to you.

Thanks to my dear **Xueying Li**, I don't think I need to thank within family, but thank you for the company during these years. You definitely made my life more fruitful. You are part of my life and the special to me. And also thank you for making the thesis cover for me. I would also like to thank my dog **Digua**, even though she will never read thesis words ;-)

Thanks to my loving parents, 阿雄和阿丽, 谢谢你们一直以来无条件的理解和 支持, 尤其是阿丽对待生活的积极态度和乐观精神给予了我无尽的力量。

Thanks to CSC, Formas, Carl Trygger Foundation for Scientific Research, Royal Physiographic Society of Lund, Lindströms, Faculty of Science, APACE, for paying my salary, supporting my partial lab expenses, and financing my trip to Japan. Thanks to Functional Zoology Unit for providing those fancy breakfast, lunch and dinners during these years.

People said that "most of us have only one story to tell, but it doesn't mean only one thing happens to us in our lives, there are countless events, which we turn into countless stories. But there's only one finally to be telling." There are more thanks than the words that I would like to say, and maybe I missed someone who helped me during these years I ask for the forgiveness.

# References

- Agaba M., Tocher D.R., Dickson C.A., Dick J.R., and Teale A.J. (2004). Zebrafish cDNA encoding multifunctional fatty acid elongase involved in production of eicosapentaenoic (20: 5n-3) and docosahexaenoic (22: 6n-3) acids. *Marine Biotechnol*. 6, 251–261.
- Anderson C.M., and Stahl A. (2013). SLC27 fatty acid transport proteins. Mol. Aspects. MED. 34, 516–528.
- Ando T., Inomata S. and Yamamoto M. (2004). Lepidopteran Sex Pheromones. *Top Curr. Chem.* **239**, 51–96.
- Arsequell G., Fabrias G. and Camps F. (1990). Sex pheromone biosynthesis in the processionary moth *Thaumetopoea pityocampa* by delta-13 desaturation. *Arch. Insect. Biochem. Physiol.* 14, 47–56.
- Atanassov I.I., Atanassov I.I., Etchells J., and Turner, S.R. (2009). A simple, flexible and efficient PCR-fusion/Gateway cloning procedure for gene fusion, site-directed mutagenesis, short sequence insertion and domain deletions and swaps. *Plant methods.* 5, 14.
- Bansal S., and Durrett T.P. (2016). *Camelina sativa*: an ideal platform for the metabolic engineering and field production of industrial lipids. *Biochimie*. **1**, 9–16.
- Beale M.H., Birkett M.A., Bruce T.J., Chamberlain K., Field L.M., *et al.* (2006). Aphid alarm pheromone produced by transgenic plants affects aphid and parasitoid behavior. *Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci.* 103, 10509–10513.
- Behrouzian B. and Buist P.H. (2002). Fatty acid desaturation: variations on an oxidative theme. *Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol.* **6**, 577–582.
- Bjostad L.B., and Roelofs W.L. (1983). Sex Pheromone Biosynthesis in *Trichoplusia ni*: Key Steps Involve Delta-11 Desaturation and Chain-Shortening. *Science* **220**, 1387–1389.
- Bjostad L.B., and Roelofs W.L. (1984). Sex pheromone biosynthetic precursors in *Bombyx* mori. Insect biochem. 14, 275–278.
- Bjostad L.B., and Roelofs, W.L. (1981). Sex pheromone biosynthesis from radiolabeled fatty acids in the redbanded leafroller moth. *J. Biol. Chem.* **256**, 7936–7940.
- Black P.N., and DiRusso C.C. (2007). Vectorial acylation: linking fatty acid transport and activation to metabolic trafficking. In Fatty Acids and Lipotoxicity in Obesity and Diabetes: Novartis Foundation Symposium, John Wiley and Sons, Ltd. **286**, 127–141.
- Boehm R. (2007). Bioproduction of therapeutic proteins in the 21st century and the role of plants and plant cells as production platforms. *Ann. NY. Acad. Sci.* 1102, 121–134.

- Brittain C., and Potts S.G. (2011). The potential impacts of insecticides on the life-history traits of bees and the consequences for pollination. *Basic Appl. Ecol.* **12**, 321–331.
- Buček A., Matoušková P., Vogel H., Šebesta P., Jahn U., *et al.* (2015). Evolution of moth sex pheromone composition by a single amino acid substitution in a fatty acid desaturase. *Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci.* **112**, 12586–12591.
- Burton M., Rose T.M., Faergeman N.J., and Knudsen J. (2005). Evolution of the acyl-CoA binding protein (ACBP). *Biochem J.* **392**, 299–307
- Butenandt V.A. (1959). Uber den sexsual-lockstoff des seidenspinners *Bombyx mori*. *Reindarstellung und konstitution. Z. Naturforschg. B.* 14, 283.
- Cahoon E.B., Shockey J.M., Dietrich C.R., Gidda S.K., Mullen, R.T., *et al.* (2007). Engineering oilseeds for sustainable production of industrial and nutritional feedstocks: solving bottlenecks in fatty acid flux. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* **10**, 236–244.
- Centini F., Masti A., and Comparini I.B. (1996). Quantitative and qualitative analysis of MDMA, MDEA, MA and amphetamine in urine by head-space/solid phase micro-extraction (SPME) and GC/MS. *Forensic Sci. Int.* **83**, 161–166.
- Cernac A., and Benning C. (2004). WRINKLED1 encodes an AP2/EREB domain protein involved in the control of storage compound biosynthesis in *Arabidopsis*. *Plant J.* **40**, 575–585.
- Chertemps T., Duportets L., Labeur C., Ueda R., Takahashi K., et al. (2007). A femalebiased expressed elongase involved in long-chain hydrocarbon biosynthesis and courtship behavior in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. 104, 4273–4278.
- Chertemps T., Duportets L., Labeur C., and Thomas, C.W. (2005). A new elongase selectively expressed in *Drosophila* male reproductive system. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **333**, 1066–1072
- Christie W.W. (1998). Gas chromatography-mass spectrometry methods for structural analysis of fatty acids. *Lipids* **33**, 343–353.
- Clemente T. (2006). Nicotiana (Nicotiana tobaccum, Nicotiana benthamiana). In Agrobacterium protocols. Humana Press. 143–154.
- Clinkenbeard K.D., Sugiyama T., Moss J., Reed W.D., and Lane, M.D. (1973). Molecular and catalytic properties of cytosolic acetoacetyl coenzyme A thiolase from avian liver. *J. Biol. Chem.* **248**, 2275–2284.
- Cloney R. (2016). Synthetic biology: Automating genetic circuit design. *Nat. Rev. Genetics* 17, 314.
- Conner W.E., Eisner T., Vander Meer R.K., Guerrero A., Ghiringelli D., *et al.* (1980). Sex attractant of an arctiid moth (*Utetheisa ornatrix*): a pulsed chemical signal. *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* **7**, 55–63.
- Cook S.M., Khan Z.R., and Pickett J.A. (2007). The use of push-pull strategies in integrated pest management. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.* **52**, 375–400.
- Dehesh K., Edwards P., Hayes T., Cranmer A.M., and Fillatti J. (1996a). Two novel thioesterases are key determinants of the bimodal distribution of acyl chain length of *Cuphea palustris* seed oil. *Plant Physiol.* **110**, 203–210.

- Ding B.J., Carraher C., and Löfstedt C. (2016). Sequence variation determining stereochemistry of a  $\Delta 11$  desaturase active in moth sex pheromone biosynthesis. *Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.* **74**, 68–75.
- Ding B.J., Hofvander P., Wang H.L., Durrett T.P., Stymne S., *et al.* (2014). A plant factory for moth pheromone production. *Nat. commun.* **5**, 3353.
- Ding B.J., Liénard M.A., Wang H.L., Zhao C.H., and Löfstedt C. (2011). Terminal fattyacyl-CoA desaturase involved in sex pheromone biosynthesis in the winter moth (*Operophtera brumata*). *Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.* **41**, 715–722.
- DiRusso C.C., Li H., Darwis D., Watkins P.A., Berger J., et al. (2005). Comparative biochemical studies of the murine fatty acid transport proteins (FATP) expressed in yeast. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 16829–16837.
- Duke S.O. (1994). Glandular trichomes-a focal point of chemical and structural interactions. *Intern. J. Plant Sci.* **155**, 617–620.
- Dunkelblum E., Tan S.H., and Silk P.J. (1985). Double-bond location in monounsaturated fatty acids by dimethyl disulfide derivatization and mass spectrometry: Application to analysis of fatty acids in pheromone glands of four lepidoptera. *J. Chem. Ecol.* **11**, 265–277.
- Dyer J.M., Stymne S., Green A.G., and Carlsson A.S. (2008). High-value oils from plants. *Plant J.* 54, 640–655.
- Eccleston V.S., and Ohlrogge J.B. (1998). Expression of lauroyl-acyl carrier protein thioesterase in Brassica napus seeds induces pathways for both fatty acid oxidation and biosynthesis and implies a set point for triacylglycerol accumulation. *Plant Cell* **10**, 613–621.
- Færgeman N.J., Wadum M., Feddersen S., Burton M., Kragelund B.B., et al. (2007). Acyl-CoA binding proteins; structural and functional conservation over 2000 MYA. Mol. Cellular Biochem. 299, 55–65.
- Filichkin S.A., Slabaugh M.B., and Knapp S.J. (2006). New FATB thioesterases from a high laurate *Cuphea* species: functional and complementation analyses. *Eur. J. Lipid Sci. Tech.* 108, 979–990.
- Foster S.P. (2005). Lipid analysis of the sex pheromone gland of the moth *Heliothis* virescens. Arch. Insect. Biochem. Physiol. **59**, 80–90.
- Foster S.P., and Roelofs W.L. (1988). Sex pheromone biosynthesis in the leafroller moth *Planotortrix excessana* by Δ10 desaturation. *Arch. Insect. Biochem. Physiol.* **8**, 1–9.
- Foster S.P., and Roelofs W.L. (1996). Sex pheromone biosynthesis in the tortricid moth, *Ctenopseustis herana* (Felder and Rogenhofer). *Arch. Insect. Biochem. Physiol.* **33**, 135–147.
- Ghosh S.K., Bhattacharjee A., Jha J.K., Mondal A.K., Maiti M.K., et al. (2007). Characterization and cloning of a stearoyl/oleoyl specific fatty acyl-acyl carrier protein thioesterase from the seeds of *Madhuca longifolia* (latifolia). *Plant Physiol. Biochem.* 45, 887–897.
- Gibbs W.W. (2004). Synthetic life. Sci. Am. 290, 74-81
- Graham S.A. (1998). Revision of *Cuphea* section *Diploptychia* (Lythraceae). *Syst. Bot.* **53**, 1–96.

- Graham S.A., and Kleiman R. (1992). Composition of seed oils in some Latin American Cuphea (Lythraceae). Ind. Crop. Prod. 1, 31–34.
- Green C.D., and Ozguden-Akkoc C.G., Wang Y., Jump D.B., and Olson L.K. (2010). Role of fatty acid elongases in determination of de novo synthesized monounsaturated fatty acid species. *J. Lipid Res.* **51**, 1871–1877.
- Grimberg A., Carlsson A.S., Marttila S., Bhalerao R., and Hofvander P., 2015. Transciptional transitions in *Nicotiana benthamiana* leaves upon induction of oil synthesis by WRINKLED1 homologs from diverse species and tissues. *BMC Plant Biol.* 15, 192.
- Guo Z., and Wagner G.J. (1995). Biosynthesis of labdenediol and sclareol in cell-free extracts from trichomes of *Nicotiana glutinosa*. *Planta* **197**, 627–632.
- Hagström Å.K., Albre J., Tooman L.K., Thirmawithana A.H., Corcoran J., *et al.* (2014). A novel fatty acyl desaturase from the pheromone glands of *Ctenopseustis obliquana* and *C. herana* with specific Z5-desaturase activity on myristic acid. *J. Chem. Ecol.* **40**, 63–70.
- Hagström Å.K., Liénard M.A., Groot A.T., Hedenström E., and Löfstedt C. (2012). Semi– selective fatty acyl reductases from four heliothine moths influence the specific pheromone composition. PLoS One, 7, e37230.
- Hagström Å.K., Wang H.L., Liénard M.A., Lassance J.M., Johansson, T., *et al.* (2013). A moth pheromone brewery: production of (Z)-11-hexadecenol by heterologous co-expression of two biosynthetic genes from a noctuid moth in a yeast cell factory. *Microb. Cell Fact.* **12**, 125.
- Hao G., Liu W., O'Connor M., and Roelofs W.L. (2002). Acyl-CoA Z9-and Z10-desaturase genes from a New Zealand leafroller moth species, *Planotortrix octo. Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 32, 961–966.
- Hashimoto K., Yoshizawa A.C., Okuda S., Kuma K., Goto S., *et al.* (2008). The repertoire of desaturases and elongases reveals fatty acid variations in 56 eukaryotic genomes. *J. Lipid Res.* 49, 183–191.
- Hawkins D.J., and Kridl J.C. (1998) Characterization of acyl-ACP thioesterases of mangosteen (*Garcinia mangostana*) seed and high levels of stearate production in transgenic canola. *Plant J.* **13**, 743–752.
- Heppner J.B. (1991). Faunal regions and the diversity of Lepidoptera. *Tropical Lepidoptera* **2**, 1–85.
- Horsch R.B., Rogers S.G., and Fraley R.T. (1985) Transgenic plants, *Cold Spring Harb. Symp. Quant. Biol.* **50**, 433–437.
- Iskandarov U., Kim H.J., and Cahoon E.B. (2014). *Camelina*: an emerging oilseed platform for advanced biofuels and bio-based materials. In *Plants and bioenergy*, McCann M.C., Ed, Springer, New York Press, pp, 131–140.
- Jeong H., Néda Z., and Barabási A.L. (2003). Measuring preferential attachment in evolving networks. *Europhys. Lett.* **61**, 567.
- Jones A., Davies H.M., and Voelker T.A. (1995). Palmitoyl-acyl carrier protein (ACP) thioesterase and the evolutionary origin of plant acyl-ACP thioesterases. *Plant Cell* **7**, 359–371.

- Jump D.B. (2009). "Mammalian fatty acid elongases" In *Lipidomics*, Totowa N.J., Ed, Humana Press, pp, 375–389.
- Jurenka R. (2004). The Chemistry of Pheromones and Other Semiochemicals I. In *Insect* pheromone biosynthesis. Springer Berlin Heidelberg Press, pp, 97–132.
- Jurenka R. (1997). Biosynthetic pathway for producing the sex pheromone component (*Z*,*E*)- 9,12-tetradecadienyl acetate in moths involves a  $\Delta 12$  desaturase. *Cell. Mol. Life. Sci.* **53**, 501–505.
- Kandra L., and Wagner G.J. (1988). Studies of the site and mode of biosynthesis of tobacco trichome exudate components. *Arch. Biochem. Biophysic.* **265**, 425–432.
- Karg S.R., and Kallio P.T. (2009). The production of biopharmaceuticals in plant systems. *Biotechnol. Adv.* 27, 879–894.
- Katzen F. (2007). Gateway® recombinational cloning: a biological operating system. *Expert. Opin. Drug Dis.* **2**, 571–589.
- Kim H.J., Silva J.E., Vu H.S., Mockaitis K., Nam J.W., *et al.* (2015a). Toward production of jet fuel functionality in oilseeds: identification of FatB acyl-acyl carrier protein thioesterases and evaluation of combinatorial expression strategies in *Camelina* seeds. *J. Exp. Bot.* 66, 4251–4265.
- Knaut J., and Richtler H. (1985). Trends in industrial uses of palm and lauric oils. J. Am. Oil Chem.' Soc. 62, 317–327.
- Knipple D.C., Rosenfield C.L., Miller S.J., Liu W., and Tang J., *et al.* (1998). Cloning and functional expression of a cDNA encoding a pheromone gland-specific acyl-CoA  $\Delta$ 11-desaturase of the cabbage looper moth, *Trichoplusia ni. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci.* **95**, 15287–15292.
- Knipple D.C., Rosenfield C.L., Nielsen R., You K.M., and Jeong S.E. (2002). Evolution of the integral membrane desaturase gene family in moths and flies. *Genetics* 162, 1737– 1752.
- Knutzon D.S., Bleibaum J.L., Nelsen J., Kridl J.C. and Thompson G.A. (1992) Isolation and characterization of 2 safflower oleoyl-acyl carrier protein thioesterase cDNA clones. *Plant Physiol.* **100**, 1751–1758.
- Knutzon D.S., Hayes T.R., Wyrick A., Xiong H., Davies H.M., *et al.* (1999). Lysophosphatidic acid acyltransferase from coconut endosperm mediates the insertion of laurate at the sn-2 position of triacylglycerols in lauric rapeseed oil and can increase total laurate levels. *Plant Physiol.* **120**, 739–746.
- Lamprecht I., Schmolz E., and Schricker B. (2008). Pheromones in the life of insects. *Eur. Biophys. J.* **37**, 1253–1260.
- Lassance J.M., Groot A.T., Liénard M.A., Antony B., Borgwardt C., *et al.* (2010). Allelic variation in a fatty-acyl reductase gene causes divergence in moth sex pheromones. *Nature* **466**, 486.
- Leonard J.M., Slabaugh M.B., and Knapp S.J. (1997). Cuphea wrightii thioesterases have unexpected broad specificities on saturated fatty acids. Plant Mol. Biol. 34, 669–679.
- Li-Beisson Y., Shorrosh B., Beisson F., Andersson M.X., Arondel V., et al. (2013). Acyllipid metabolism. Arabidopsis Book 11, e0161.

- Liénard D., Sourrouille C., Gomord V., and Faye L. (2007). Pharming and transgenic plants. *Biotech. Ann. Rev.* 13, 115–147.
- Liénard M.A., Hagström Å.K., Lassance J.M., and Löfstedt C. (2010). Evolution of multicomponent pheromone signals in small ermine moths involves a single fatty-acyl reductase gene. *Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci.* 107, 10955–10960.
- Liénard M.A., Lassance J.M., Wang H.L., Zhao C.H., Piškur J., *et al.* (2010). Elucidation of the sex-pheromone biosynthesis producing 5, 7-dodecadienes in *Dendrolimus punctatus* (Lepidoptera: Lasiocampidae) reveals Δ11-and Δ9-desaturases with unusual catalytic properties. *Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.* **40**, 440–452.
- Liu W., Jiao H., Murray N.C., O'Connor M., and Roelofs W.L. (2002). Gene characterized for membrane desaturase that produces (*E*)-11 isomers of mono-and diunsaturated fatty acids. *Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci.* **99**, 620–624.
- Liu W., Jiao H., O'Connor, M., and Roelofs W.L. (2002). Moth desaturase characterized that produces both Z and E isomers of  $\Delta$ 11-tetradecenoic acids. *Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.* **32**, 1489–1495.
- Liu W., Ma P.W.K., Marsella-Herrick P., Rosenfield C.L., Knipple D.C., *et al.* (1999) Cloning and functional expression of a cDNA encoding a metabolic acyl-CoA Delta 9-desaturase of the cabbage looper moth, *Trichoplusia ni. Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 29, 435–43.
- Liu W., Rooney A.P., Xue B., and Roelofs W.L. (2004). Desaturases from the spotted fireworm moth (*Choristoneura parallela*) shed light on the evolutionary origins of novel moth sex pheromone desaturases. *Gene* **342**, 303–311.
- Löfstedt C., and Bengtsson M. (1988). Sex pheromone biosynthesis of (*E,E*)-8,10dodecadienol in codling moth *Cydia pomonella* involves E9 desaturation. *J. Chem. Ecol.* **14**, 903–915.
- Löfstedt C., Hansson B.S., Petersson E., Valeur P., and Richards A. (1994). Pheromonal secretions from glands on the 5th abdominal sternite of hydropsychid and rhyacophilid caddisflies (Trichoptera). *J Chem. Ecol.* **20**, 153–170.
- Löfstedt C., and Kozlov M. (1997). A phylogenetic analysis of pheromone communication in primitive moths., In *Insect pheromone research*, Boston, M.A. Ed. Springer Press, pp, 473–489.
- Löfstedt C., Wahlberg N., and Millar J.M. (2016). Evolutionary patterns of pheromone diversity in Lepidoptera. In *Pheromone communication in moths: evolution, behavior* and application, Allison J.D. Ed. University of California Press, pp, 43–82.
- Lu C., Kang J. (2008) Generation of transgenic plants of a potential oilseed crop Camelina sativa by *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation. *Plant Cell Rep.* 27, 273–278.
- Ma J.K., Chikwamba R., Sparrow P., Fischer R., Mahoney R., *et al.* (2005). Plant-derived pharmaceuticals–the road forward. *Trends Plant Sci.* **10**, 580–585.
- Ma P.W., Ramaswamy S.B., Blomquist G.J., and Vogt R.G. (2003). Biology and ultrastructure of sex pheromone-producing tissue. In *Insect pheromone biochemistry and molecular biology*, Blomquist G. Ed, Academic Press, pp, 19–51.
- Mandal M.N.A., Santha I.M., Lodha M.L., and Mehta S.L. (2000). Cloning of acyl-acyl carrier protein (ACP) thioesterase gene from *Brassica juncea*. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 28, 967–969.

- Martinez T., Fabrias G., and Camps F. (1990). Sex pheromone biosynthetic pathway in *Spodoptera littoralis* and its activation by a neurohormone. *J. Biol. Chem.* **265**, 1381–1387.
- Matoušková P., Pichová I., and Svatoš A. (2007). Functional characterization of a desaturase from the tobacco hornworm moth (*Manduca sexta*) with bifunctional Z11-and 10, 12desaturase activity. *Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 37, 601–610.
- Mett V., Farrance C.E., Green B.J., and Yusibov V. (2008). Plants as biofactories. *Biologicals* 36, 354–358.
- Michaelis S., and Herskowitz I. (1988). The a-factor pheromone of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* is essential for mating. *Mol. Cellu. Biol.* **8**, 1309–1318.
- Mogensen I.B., Schulenberg H., Hansen H.O., Spener F., and Knudsen J. (1987). A novel acyl-CoA-binding protein from bovine liver. Effect on fatty acid synthesis. *Biochemical J.* **241**, 189–192.
- Moser B.R. (2010). Camelina (*Camelina sativa* L.) oil as a biofuel's feedstock: Golden opportunity or false hope? *Lipid Technol.* 22, 270–273.
- Moto K.I., Suzuki M.G., Hull J.J., Kurata R., Takahashi S., *et al.* (2004). Involvement of a bifunctional fatty-acyl desaturase in the biosynthesis of the silkmoth, *Bombyx mori*, sex pheromone. *Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci.* **101**, 8631–8636.
- Moto K.I., Yoshiga T., Yamamoto M., Takahashi S., Okano, K., et al. (2003). Pheromone gland-specific fatty-acyl reductase of the silkmoth, *Bombyx mori. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci.* 100, 9156–9161.
- Murashige T., and Skoog F. (1962). A revised medium for rapid growth and bio assays with tobacco tissue cultures. *Physiol. Plant.* **15**, 473–497.
- Nešněrová P., Šebek P., Macek T., and Svatoš A. (2004). First semi-synthetic preparation of sex pheromones. *Green Chem.* **6**, 305–307.
- Nguyen H.T., Silva J.E., Podicheti R., Macrander J., Yang W., *et al.* (2013). Camelina seed transcriptome: a tool for meal and oil improvement and translational research. *Plant Biotech. J.* **11**, 759–769.
- Oh C.S., Toke D.A., Mandala S., and Martin C.E. (1997). ELO2 and ELO3, Homologues of the *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* ELO1 Gene, Function in Fatty Acid Elongation and Are Required for Sphingolipid Formation. *J. Biol. Chem.* **272**, 17376–17384
- Ohlrogge J.B., Kuhn D.N., and Stumpf P.K. (1979). Subcellular localization of acyl carrier protein in leaf protoplasts of *Spinacia oleracea*. *Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci.* **76**, 1194–1198.
- Othman A., Lazarus C., Fraser T. and Stobart K. (2000). Cloning of a palmitoyl-acyl carrier protein thioesterase from oil palm. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 28, 619–622.
- Percy-Cunningham J.E., and MacDonald J.A. (1987). Biology and Ultrastructure of Sex Pheromone–Producing Glands. In *Pheromone biochemistry*, Prestwich G.D. Ed, Academic Press, pp, 27–75.
- Pollard M.R., Anderson L., Fan C., Hawkins D.J., and Davies H.M. (1991). A specific acyl-ACP thioesterase implicated in medium-chain fatty acid production in immature cotyledons of *Umbellularia californica*. Arch. Biochem. Biophy. 284, 306–312.
- Raguso R.A., and Pellmyr O. (1998). Dynamic headspace analysis of floral volatiles: a comparison of methods. *Oikos* **81**, 238–254.

- Raina A.K., Wergin W.P., Murphy C.A., and Erbe E.F. (2000). Structural organization of the sex pheromone gland in *Helicoverpa zea* in relation to pheromone production and release. *Arthropod Struct. Dev.* 29, 343–353.
- Rasmussen L.E.L., Lee T.D., Zhang A., Roelofs W.L., and Daves G.D. (1997). Purification, identification, concentration and bioactivity of (*Z*)-7-dodecen-1-yl acetate: sex pheromone of the female Asian elephant, *Elephas maximus*. *Chem. Senses* 22, 417–437.
- Reddy G.V.P., and Guerrero A. (2010). New pheromones and insect control strategies. In *Vitamins and Hormones*, Massachusetts L.G. Ed. Elsevier Press, pp, 493–519.
- Reynolds K.B., Taylor M.C., Cullerne D.P., Blanchard C.L., Wood C.C., et al. (2017). A reconfigured Kennedy pathway which promotes efficient accumulation of mediumchain fatty acids in leaf oils. *Plant Biotechnol. J.* 15, 1397–1408.
- Rodríguez S., Hao G., Liu W., Piña B., Rooney A., *et al.* (2004). Expression and evolution of  $\Delta 9$  and  $\Delta 11$  desaturase genes in the moth *Spodoptera littoralis*. *Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.* **34**, 1315–1328
- Rodríguez-Rodriguez M.F., Salas J.J., Garces R., and Martinez-Force E. (2014). Acyl-ACP thioesterases from *Camelina sativa*: cloning, enzymatic characterization and implication in seed oil fatty acid composition. *Phytochemistry* **107**, 7–15.
- Raclot T. (1997). Selective mobilization of fatty acids from white fat cells: evidence for a relationship to the polarity of triacylglycerols. *Biochemical J.* **322**, 483–489.
- Roelofs W.L., Liu W., Hao G., Jiao H., Rooney A.P., *et al.* (2002). Evolution of moth sex pheromones via ancestral genes. *Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci.* **99**, 13621–13626.
- Rosenfield C.L., You K.M., Marsella-Herrick P., Roelofs W.L., and Knipple D.C. (2001). Structural and functional conservation and divergence among acyl-CoA desaturases of two noctuid species, the corn earworm, *Helicoverpa zea*, and the cabbage looper, *Trichoplusia ni. Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.* **31**, 949–964.
- Salas J.J., and Ohlrogge J.B. (2002) Characterization of substrate specificity of plant FatA and FatB acyl-ACP thioesterases. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* **403**, 25–34.
- Sanchez-Garcia A., Moreno-Perez A.J., Muro-Pastor A.M., Salas J.J., Garces R. *et al.* (2010) Acyl-ACP thioesterases from castor (*Ricinus communis L.*): an enzymatic system appropriate for high rates of oil synthesis and accumulation. *Phytochemistry* **71**, 860– 869.
- Schultz D.J., and Ohlrogge J.B. (2001). Metabolic engineering of fatty acid biosynthesis. In *Lipid Biotech*. Kuo T.M. Ed, Marcel Dekker Inc.
- Schuster S.C. (2007). Next-generation sequencing transforms today's biology. *Nat. Methods* **5**, 16.
- Serra M., Piña B., Abad J.L., Camps F., and Fabriàs G. (2007). A multifunctional desaturase involved in the biosynthesis of the processionary moth sex pheromone. *Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci.* **104**, 16444–16449.
- Serra M., Piña B., Bujons J., Camps F., and Fabriàs G. (2006). Biosynthesis of 10, 12-dienoic fatty acids by a bifunctional Δ 11 desaturase in *Spodoptera littoralis*. *Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 36, 634–641.

- Serrano-Vega M.J., Garces R., and Martinez-Force E. (2005) Cloning, characterization and structural model of a FatA-type thioesterase from sunflower seeds (*Helianthus annuus L.*). *Planta* **221**, 868–880.
- Shanklin J., Whittle E., and Fox B.G. (1994). Eight histidine residues are catalytically essential in a membrane-associated iron enzyme, stearoyl-CoA desaturase, and are conserved in alkane hydroxylase and xylane monooxygenase, *Biochemistry* **33**, 12787–12794.
- Simmons G.S., Suckling D.M., Carpenter J.E., Addison M.F., Dyck V.A., *et al.* (2010). Improved quality management to enhance the efficacy of the sterile insect technique for lepidopteran pests. *J. Appl. Entomol.* **134**, 261–273.
- Slabaugh M.B., Leonard J.M., and Knapp S.J. (1998). Condensing enzymes from *Cuphea* wrightii associated with medium chain fatty acid biosynthesis. *Plant J.* **13**, 611–620.
- Stahl S.S. (2004). Palladium oxidase catalysis: selective oxidation of organic chemicals by direct dioxygen-coupled turnover. *Angew. Chemie. Intern. Ed.* **43**, 3400–3420.
- Strandh M., Johansson T., Ahrén D., and Löfstedt C. (2008). Transcriptional analysis of the pheromone gland of the turnip moth, *Agrotis segetum* (Noctuidae), reveals candidate genes involved in pheromone production. *Insect. Mol. Biol.* 17, 73–85.
- Ternes P., Franke S., Zahringer U., Sperling P., and Heinz E. (2002). Identification and characterization of a sphingolipid delta 4-desaturase family. *J. Biol. Chem.* 277, 25512–25518.
- Thelen J.J., and Ohlrogge J.B. (2002). Metabolic engineering of fatty acid biosynthesis in plants. *Metab. Eng.* **4**, 12–21.
- Tjellström H., Strawsine M., Silva J., Cahoon E.B., and Ohlrogge J.B. (2013). Disruption of plastid acyl:acyl carrier protein synthetases increases medium chain fatty acid accumulation in seeds of transgenic Arabidopsis. *FEBS Letters* **587**, 936–942.
- Tocher D.R., Leaver M.J., and Hodgson P.A. (1998). Recent advances in the biochemistry and molecular biology of fatty acyl desaturases. *Prog. Lipid Res.* **37**,73–117.
- Toke D.A., and Martin C.E. (1996). Isolation and characterization of a gene affecting fatty acid elongation in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. J. Biol. Chem. **271**, 18413–18422.
- Tupec M., Buček A., Valterová I., and Pichová I. (2017). Biotechnological potential of insect fatty acid-modifying enzymes. *Zeitschrift Für Naturforschung C.* **72**, 387–403.
- Tvrdik P., Westerberg R., Silve S., Asadi A., Jakobsson A., *et al.* (2000). Role of a new mammalian gene family in the biosynthesis of very long chain fatty acids and sphingolipids. *J. Cell Biol.* **149**, 707–718.
- van Nieukerken E.J., Kaila L., Kitching I.J., Kristensen N.P., Lees D.C., *et al.* (2011). Order Lepidoptera Linnaeus, 1758. Zootaxa, **3148**, 212–221.
- Vanhercke T., El Tahchy A., Liu Q., Zhou X.R., Shrestha P., et al. (2014b). Metabolic engineering of biomass for high energy density: oilseed-like triacylglycerol yields from plant leaves. *Plant Biotechnol. J.* 12, 231–239.
- Visser J.H., and Thiery D. (1986). Effects of feeding experience on the odour-conditioned anemotaxes of Colorado potato beetles. *Entomol. Exp Appl.* **42**, 198–200.
- Voelker T., and Kinney A.J. (2001). Variations in the biosynthesis of seed-storage lipids. Ann. Rev. Plant Biol. **52**, 335–361.

- Voelker T.A., Hayes T.R., Cranmer A.M., Turner J.C., and Davies H.M. (1996). Genetic engineering of a quantitative trait: Metabolic and genetic parameters influencing the accumulation of laurate in rapeseed. *Plant J.* **9**, 229–241.
- Voelker T.A., Worrell A.C., Anderson L., Bleibaum J., Fan C., et al. (1992). Fatty acid biosynthesis redirected to medium chains in transgenic oilseed plants. Science 257, 72–74.
- Voinnet O., Rivas S., Mestre P., and Baulcombe D. (2003). An enhanced transient expression system in plants based on suppression of gene silencing by the p19 protein of tomato bushy stunt virus. *Plant J.* **33**, 949–956.
- Wang E.M., Gan S.S., and Wagner G.J. (2002). Isolation and characterization of the CYP71D16 trichome-specific promoter from *Nicotiana tabacum L. J. Exp. Bot.* 53, 1891–1897.
- Wang H.L., Liénard M.A., Zhao C.H., Wang C.Z., and Löfstedt C. (2010). Neofunctionalization in an ancestral insect desaturase lineage led to rare  $\Delta$  6 pheromone signals in the Chinese tussah silkworm. *Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.* **40**, 742–751.
- Weatherston I., and Stewart R. (2002). Regulatory issues in the commercial development of pheromones and other semiochemicals. IOBC wprs Bulletin, **25**, 1–10.
- Wyatt T.D. (2003). Pheromones and animal behaviour: communication by smell and taste. Cambridge University Press.
- Xia Y.H., Zhang Y.N., Ding B.J., Wang H.L., and Löfstedt C. (2019). Multi-Functional Desaturases in Two *Spodoptera* Moths with  $\Delta 11$  and  $\Delta 12$  Desaturation Activities. *J. Chem. Ecol.* **45**, 378–387.
- Xia Y.H., Zhang Y.N., Hou X.Q., Li F., and Dong S.L. (2015). Large number of putative chemoreception and pheromone biosynthesis genes revealed by analyzing transcriptome from ovipositor-pheromone glands of *Chilo suppressalis*. *Sci. Rep.* **5**, 7888.
- Yamaoka R., Taniguchi Y., and Hayashiya K. (1984). Bombykol biosynthesis from deuterium-labeled (Z)-11-hexadecenoic acid. *Experientia* **40**, 80–81.
- Young M.D., Wakefield M.J., Smyth G.K., and Oshlack A. (2010). Gene ontology analysis for RNA-seq: accounting for selection bias. *Genome Biol.* **11**, 14.
- Zale J., Jung J.H., Kim J.Y., Pathak B., Karan R., et al. (2016). Metabolic engineering of sugarcane to accumulate energy-dense triacylglycerols in vegetative biomass. *Plant Biotechnol. J.* 14, 661–669.
- Zhao C., Löfstedt C., and Wang X. (1990). Sex pheromone biosynthesis in the Asian corn borer *Ostrinia furnicalis* (II): biosynthesis of (*E*)- and (*Z*)-12-tetradecenyl acetate involves  $\Delta$ 14 desaturation. *Arch. Insect. Biochem. Physiol.* **15**, 57–65.
## List of papers

- I. Yi-Han Xia, Ya-Nan Zhang, Bao-Jian Ding, Hong-Lei Wang, Christer Löfstedt. (2019) Multi-Functional Desaturases in Two Spodoptera Moths with Δ11 and Δ12 Desaturation Activities. Journal of Chemical Ecology 45, 378–387. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10886-019-01067-3
- II. Bao-Jian Ding\*, Yi-Han Xia\*, Hong-Lei Wang, Erik Hedenström, Jürgen Gross, Christer Löfstedt (2020) Biosynthesis of the Sex Pheromone (E,Z)-7,9-dodecadienyl acetate in the European Grapevine Moth Lobesia botrana Involving Δ11 Desaturation and an Elusive Δ7 Desaturase. (\*, shared first authorship). Manuscript.
- III. Yi-Han Xia, Bao-Jian Ding, Shuang-Lin Dong, Hong-Lei Wang, Christer Löfstedt. (2020) Characterization of genes involved in Sex Pheromone Biosynthesis in the Rice Stem Borer *Chilo suppressalis* (Lepidoptera: Pyraloidea): a Novel Functional Fatty Acyl-CoA Elongase Gene Revealed. Manuscript.
- IV. Yi-Han Xia, Bao-Jian Ding, Hong-Lei Wang, Carin Jarl-Sunesson, Per Hofvander, Christer Löfstedt. (2020) Production of Moth Sex Pheromone Precursors in *Nicotiana* spp. by *Agrobacterium-mediated* Stable Transformation. Submitted.
- V. Yi-Han Xia, Bao-Jian Ding, Hong-Lei Wang, Carin Jarl-Sunesson, Edgar B. Cahoon, Per Hofvander, Christer Löfstedt. (2020) Metabolic Engineering of Camelina (*Camelina sativa*) for the Production of Mono- and Di-unsaturated C12 Moth Pheromone Precursors. Manuscript.





Lund University Faculty of Science Department of Biology ISBN 978-91-7895-428-5

